
Summons to Meeting

Monday 23 September 2019

Development Panel
Tuesday 1 October 2019, 1.00 pm

Theatre - The Wave Centre, Maryport
Membership:

Councillor Nicky Cockburn (Chair) Councillor Malcolm Grainger (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Allan Daniels
Councillor Joan Ellis Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Daniel Horsley Councillor Adrian Kirkbride
Councillor Elaine Lynch Councillor Ron Munby MBE
Councillor Alan Smith Councillor Alan Tyson

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Lee Jardine on 01900 702502.

Agenda
1. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 14)

To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 27 August 2019

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the 
meeting.



5. Development Panel - FUL/2019/0187 - Energy Coast Laundry, Joseph Noble 
Road, Workington - Retrospective application for change of use from car 
sales to industrial laundry  (Pages 15 - 32)

6. Development Panel - OUT/2019/0028 - Low Road, Cockermouth - Outline 
application for residential development of 27 dwellings  (Pages 33 - 68)

7. Development Panel - FUL/2019/0160 - Verona, Blitterlees, Silloth - 
Construction of five detached bungalows  (Pages 69 - 90)

8. Development Panel - FUL/2019/0128 - Highfield Community Centre (Squash 
Club), Highfield Road, Cockermouth - Partial change of use from squash 
courts to changing facilities and new function rooms  (Pages 91 - 100)

Corporate Director

Date of Next Meeting:

Tuesday 22 October 2019, 1.00 pm
Allerdale House, Workington



At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, 
Workington on Tuesday 27 August 2019 at 1.00 pm

Members

Councillor Nicky Cockburn (Chair) Councillor Malcolm Grainger (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Allan Daniels
Councillor Joan Ellis Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Daniel Horsley Councillor Elaine Lynch
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Alan Smith
Councillor Alan Tyson Councillor Will Wilkinson

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Adrian Kirkbride

Staff Present

J Irving, L Jardine, K Kerrigan, K McCartney, J Morgan, S Sharp and L Tomlinson

110. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 2 July 2019 were signed as a correct 
record.

111. Declaration of Interests 

5. Development Panel - OUT/2019/0010 - Plot 5 Moor Road Great 
Broughton - Outline application for dwelling.

Councillor Elaine Lynch; Other Interest; knows the applicant.

8. Development Panel - TPO/2019/0004 - Land adjacent to Old Pump 
House Papcastle Road Papcastle Cockermouth - Confirmation of TPO for 
Sycamore, Scots Pine and Horse Chestnut.

Councillor Joan Ellis; Disclosable Pecuniary Interest; co-owner of land 
subject to application.

9. Development Panel - WTPO/2019/0017 - Land adjacent to Old Pump 
House Papcastle Road Papcastle Cockermouth - Pruning works to trees 
protected by TPO.

Councillor Joan Ellis; Disclosable Pecuniary Interest; co-owner of land 
subject to application.

10. Development Panel - WTPO/2019/0014 - 11 The Parklands 
Cockermouth - Pruning works to tree protected by TPO.

Simon Sharp; Other Interest; applicant is his neighbour.

112. Questions 

None Received

113. Development Panel - OUT/2019/0010 - Plot 5 Moor Road Great Broughton - 
Outline application for dwelling 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



Application

The report recommended granting permission subject to conditions.

The Planning and Building Control Manager introduced the item and then went 
through the main issues as detailed in the report.

Principle of Development and Application of the Tilted Balance

The application is located outside the designated saved settlement limits for 
Broughton under the Allerdale Local Plan 1999. The Part 2 Draft Local Plan pre-
consultation document extends the proposed settlement limit along Moor Road 
to include four building plots already with consent. The application site is not 
included in the extended settlement limit.

Neither the saved 1999 settlement limits, nor the emerging Part 2 limits are 
afforded significant weight. The 1999 limits are not afforded significant weight 
because development is needed to meet the 2014 Local Plan’s medium term 
trajectories for supply. The Part 2 settlement limits are not afforded significant 
weight at this juncture as there are still substantive objections to them, including 
about their very existence.

Layout

The layout is a reserved matter. However, a sketch scheme has been provided 
that demonstrates how the site can be arranged to be compatible with the 
adjacent plots under construction with building lines respected and adequate 
outside space and vehicle turning achieved.

Access and Highway Issues

The outline application considers access with the need for a modest amount of 
hedgerow removal. The roadway allows for visibility splays in both directions. 
However, in order to achieve this, the applicant has agreed to move the 30mph 
speed restriction pole to the west in order to have the application site access 
within that 30mph zone and thus allow for shorter visibility splays. This is 
considered acceptable to the Highway Authority as demonstrated on the 
amended plan and brings a general benefit to the adjacent bungalows and the 
village as a whole with lower traffic speeds approaching the village from the 
north-west. A Grampian style condition is proposed to require the movement of 
the 30 mph speed limits.

Landscape Impact

The site is on the periphery of the village, and is an elevated site. The site is 
difficult to see and identify from the south and west due to the topography, 
woodland and other buildings screening it from view. The views of the site from 
receptors along the footpaths and roads within the Derwent Valley to the south 
are largely concealed and over a substantial distance exceeding 1km. The 
backdrop of green countryside and woodland on higher ground are a prominent 

Page 2



feature and minimise impact. The horizon remains unbroken by the proposed 
development.
It is considered by Officers that the proposed development will not have an 
adverse visual impact upon the landscape from close or distant views

Drainage

Foul drainage is planned to a treatment plant already implemented to serve 
Plots 1-4 and in the applicant’s control and ownership. A similar communal 
surface water drainage scheme is also implemented with attenuation and 
drainage outfall to a watercourse. This methodology has been fully agreed by 
discharge of condition for Plots 1 and 4 and can accommodate the additional 
plot in a sustainable manner.

Ecology

Of most significance is the presence of a Great Chested Newt (GCN) habitat 
beyond the site at 800 metres to the north.
Considering the distance of the habitat from the application site and the low 
chance of migration (with the lack of a water environment within the site), the 
matter is considered to be concluded satisfactorily. The method statement for 
safeguarding has been resubmitted for this site and can be conditioned.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Questions were asked of the officers and debate followed relating to ecology, 
settlement limits (including the weight afforded to the saved limits in the adopted 
plan and the emerging Local Plan Part 2) and visibility splays. Specific queries 
were made by the Chair as to whether the required visibility splay was 
achievable given the bend in the road to the west and the changes in land 
levels. The Planning and Building Control Manager confirmed that he had 
verified the County Highway Authority’s comments and, indeed, the splay was 
achievable within land in the applicant’s control or within the extent of the 
adopted highway, subject to the 30mph limit being extended westwards. 

Councillor Grainger moved to grant permission subject to conditions, as per the 
officer’s recommendation.

The motion was seconded by Councillor Daniels.

A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 9 voted in favour, 3 voted
against with 0 abstentions.

The motion was carried.

Resolution

Permission granted subject to conditions as per officers recommendations.

CONDITIONS

Page 3



Time Limit:

1. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no later 
than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this permission and the 
development shall begin no later than whichever is the later of the following 
dates:
(a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this permission, or
(b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved matters or, 
in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such 
matter to be approved.

Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

In Accordance:

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following plans:
Dwg EL30b Site Block Layout (access only) (amended plan 17/6/2019)
Site Location Plan
GEO2016-2304P1 Phase 1 Desk Top Study Report
GEO2017-2403P2 Ground Investigation Report
SCS92v1 Hedgerow Assessment, Phase One Habitat and Scoping Survey
AWG3620 Method Statement Great Crested Newt (amended plan received 
26/9/2016)

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

3. The details required by the reserved matters details shall relate to the 
development of a bungalow or dormer bungalow.

Reason: It is considered this is the most appropriate type of dwelling in this 
location taking into account the site conditions / character of the surrounding 
area and adjacent properties, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014.

4. The development shall be undertaken only in full accordance with the 
submitted report (AWG3620 Method Statement Great Crested Newt).

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding protected species.

Pre-commencement conditions:

4. Before any development commences details of the layout, scale and 
appearance, and landscaping (hereinafter called 'reserved matters') shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 4



Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in 
accordance with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015.

5. Any application for reserved matters of scale shall include plans showing the 
following:
(a) Cross sections through the site;
(b) Details of existing and proposed ground levels;
(c) Proposed finished floor levels of buildings;
(d) Levels of any paths, drives, garages and parking areas; and the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the details so approved.

Reason: To ensure that the works are carried out to a suitable level in relation 
to the adjoining properties and highways and in the interests of visual amenity.

6. Before development commences, details of a highway 'gateway feature', as 
shown on plan EL30b, incorporating relocated signage that enforces local 
speed limit restrictions to support the achievable visibility splays, shall be 
provided and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works 
shall be implemented before the development commences in conjunction with a 
Section 278 Agreement with the local Highway Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety

7. The development shall not commence until visibility splays providing clear 
visibility of 90 metres measured 2.4m down the centre of the access roads and 
the nearside channel line of the major road have been provided at the junction 
of the access roads with the county highway. Notwithstanding the provisions of 
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 
(or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted 
development, no structure, vehicle or object of any kind shall be erected, parked 
or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or be permitted 
to grown within the visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays. The 
visibility splays shall be constructed before general development of the site 
commences so that construction traffic is safeguarded. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

8. Details of proposed crossings of the highway verge and/or footway shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The development shall 
not be commenced until the details have been approved and the crossings have 
been constructed. A permit from the highway authority will be required to carry 
out this work.

Reason: To ensure a suitable standard of crossing for pedestrian safety.

9. Details of all measures to be taken by the applicant/developer to prevent 
surface water discharging onto or off the highway shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval prior to development being commenced. 
Any approved works shall be implemented prior to the development being 
completed and shall be maintained operational thereafter.

Page 5



Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental management.

10. Before development commences, notwithstanding the submitted plans, 
further details of the foul and surface water drainage system including system 
management and maintenance shall be provided to the Local Planning 
Authority and approved in writing. The surface water drainage scheme must be 
in accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent replacement national 
standards and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the public sewerage system either 
directly or indirectly. The development shall be completed, maintained and 
managed in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In order to achieve a satisfactory sustainable drainage system to 
manage and minimise the risk of flooding and pollution.

11. No development approved by this permission shall commence until all 
necessary site investigation works within the site boundary have been carried 
out to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its potential to 
pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The scope of works for 
the site investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior 
to the commencement.

Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 
any possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

12. Should land affected by contamination identified under the desk top study 
following site investigations, which poses unacceptable risks to human health, 
controlled waters or the wider environment, no development shall take place 
until a detailed remediation scheme has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The scheme must include an appraisal of remediation options, identification of 
the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation objectives and remediation 
criteria, and a description and programme of the works to be undertaken 
including the verification plan.

Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 
any possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Post-commencement/Pre-use commencing conditions:

13. The access drive shall be surfaced in bituminous or cement bound 
materials, or otherwise bound and shall be constructed and completed before 
the development is occupied/brought into use.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

Page 6



14. Access gates, if provided, shall be hung to open inwards only away from the 
highway.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

15. The dwelling/land use hereby approved shall not be occupied until the 
vehicular access, parking and turning requirements have been constructed in 
accordance with the approved plan and have been brought into use. The 
vehicular access, parking and turning provisions shall be retained and capable 
of use at all times thereafter and shall not be removed or altered without the 
prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access, parking and turning 
provision when the development is brought into use.

16. Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 12, the approved 
strategy shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the development (or 
relevant phase of development) being brought into use.

Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from 
any possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014

17. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the site 
affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where unacceptable risks 
are found remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These shall be 
implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of development) being 
brought into use. All works shall be undertaken in accordance with current UK 
guidance, particularly CLR11.

Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014

Advisory Note

The applicant/developer is reminded of the need to contact Cumbria County 
Council Highway Authority for a Section 278 Agreement for highway works that 
are essential in order to achieve the access visibility condition of this planning 
approval

Councillor Elaine Lynch left the meeting  

Page 7



114. Development Panel - FUL/2019/0175 - 11 Oaktree Crescent Cockermouth - 
Erection of new dwelling and removal of garage 

Representations

Richard Evans, agent and Dave Bodecott spoke in support of the application.

Application

The report recommended refusal

The Planning and Building Control Manager introduced the item and then went 
through the main issues as detailed in the report.

Principle of Development

This is considered acceptable in basic terms at a sustainable location within a 
Key Service Centre.

Layout

Overdevelopment of the site with a dominance of access road, parking and 
turning provision. Back land development not compatible with the existing 
suburban character and plot ratios.

Residential Amenity

The intensity of vehicle movements to serve the dwelling in close proximity to 
adjacent dwellings will have an adverse impact upon residential amenity.

Drainage

Achievable to sustainable guidelines.

Appearance

Small scale contemporary dwellings with no significant visual impact in this 
area.

The Planning and Building Control Manager also explained to the panel, using 
photographs, the location of the application site and the proposed access, 
including the demolition of a small garage.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Questions were asked of the officers and speakers and debate followed relating 
to the location of the development, the dwelling type, density of development 
and parking. Specific queries to officer focused on the impact of the 
development on the street scene, the implications for parking serving the host 
dwelling, the ability for the host dwelling to increase its parking without needing 
an application for planning permission and whether conditions could control the 

Page 8



retention and enhancement of existing soft landscaping as well as future 
extensions and alterations to the new dwelling (to safeguard amenity and 
prevent overdevelopment). The Planning and Building Control Manager 
confirmed that conditions could be used for these matters.

Councillor Wilkinson moved the motion to approve, as the site does not 
represent over-development.
This was seconded by Councillor Horsley

A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 4 voted in favour, 6 against and 1 
abstention.

The motion was lost

Councillor Armstrong then moved the motion to refuse the application as per 
officer’s recommendations

This motion was seconded by Councillor Grainger.

A vote was taken on the motion to refuse, 7 voted in favour, 3 against, 1 
abstention.

The motion was carried.

Resolution

Refuse as per officers recommendations.

Councillor Elaine Lynch returned to the meeting  

115. Development Panel - HOU/2019/0129 - 22 Seadown Drive Workington - 
Single storey rear extension 

Application

Members were advised that this item was brought to panel as the applicant was 
an officer of Allerdale Borough Council.

The report recommended granting permissions subject to conditions.

The Planning and Building Control Manager introduced the item and then went 
through the main issues as detailed in the report.

Principle of Development

The development would not adversely alter the appearance of the host dwelling 
and would meet the requirements of the Local Plan policies.

Scale and Design

Page 9



The proposed development is acceptable in scale and design

Highways

The Highway Authority have responded in full regarding highway issues with no 
objections as it is considered that the existing driveway provides an adequate 
in-curtilage parking facility.

Residential Amenity

The proposed development would not result in any significant loss of amenity of 
neighbouring residential properties.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Councillor Grainger moved the motion to approve, subject to conditions.

The motion was seconded by Councillor Munby.

A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 12 voted in favour, 0 against and 0 
abstentions.

The motion carried.

Resolution

Grant subject to conditions.

Conditions

Time Limit:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act
1990.

In Accordance:

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans:
22SD-DS-002 Proposed Elevations
225D-DS-004 Proposed South
225D-DS-005 Proposed East
225D-DS-006 Proposed West
225D-DS-007 Existing Ground
225D-DS-008 Proposed Ground
225D-DS-009 Proposed Site & Block
225D-DS-010 Proposed Drainage

Page 10



Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered

Councillor Joan Ellis left the meeting  

116. Development Panel - TPO/2019/0004 - Land adjacent to Old Pump House 
Papcastle Road Papcastle Cockermouth - Confirmation of TPO for 
Sycamore, Scots Pine and Horse Chestnut 

Application

The report recommended that the Tree Preservation Order No.4 of 2019 for the 
Sycamore (T1), Scots Pine (T2) and Horse Chestnut (T3) at Land Adjacent to 
the Old Pumphouse, Papcastle Road, Cockermouth be confirmed.

The Planning Officer introduced the item and went through the main issues as 
detailed in the report.

A Tree Preservation Order was made on the 11th March 2019 following the 
receipt of a Section 211 Notice to carry out various works to trees on the land 
adjacent to Old Pumphouse, Papcastle Road, Papcastle, Cockermouth. Officers 
considered that the three trees merited protection following the legal process 
explained in this report.

The Officer also explained that all three of the trees merit TPOs as per the 
TEMPO assessment that was carried out.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Members asked questions of the officers and debate ensued in relation to the 
TEMPO assessment and the situation of the trees in relation to the nearby 
dwellings.

Councillor Farebrother moved the motion to confirm the TPO

This motion was seconded by Councillor Munby

A vote was taken on the motion to confirm, 11 voted in favour, 0 against and 0 
abstentions.

The motion was carried.

Resolution

The tree preservation order No.4 of 2019 for the Sycamore (T1), Scots Pine 
(T2) and Horse Chestnut (T3) at Land Adjacent to the Old Pumphouse, 
Papcastle Road, Cockermouth is confirmed.

Page 11



117. Development Panel - WTPO/2019/0017 - Land adjacent to Old Pump House 
Papcastle Road Papcastle Cockermouth - Pruning works to trees 
protected by TPO 

Representations

The applicant Sheila Prescott spoke in support of the application.

Application

The report recommended that the application for the works to the trees is 
approved.

The Planning Officer introduced the item and went through the main issues as 
detailed in the report reminding members that they had just resolved to confirm 
the TPO.

An application was to carry out pruning works to a Sycamore tree and Horse 
Chestnut tree within land at The Pumphouse, Papcastle. The application sought 
permission to reduce the crown of the Sycamore tree by up to 30% and to 
reduce a limb affecting the stone boundary wall of the Horse Chestnut to a point 
where the trees limb forks and to reduce its crown by 10 – 15%. Officers 
consider that the proposed works are acceptable.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Members asked questions of the speaker and debate ensued in relation to the 
impact of the works on the nearby bank. There was specific debate about 
whether the works went far enough, balancing the need to protect the trees 
from falling (with the consequent danger to residents) and preserving their 
amenity value. 

Councillor Grainger moved the motion to approve

The motion was seconded by Councillor Horsely

A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 11 voted in favour, 0 against and 0 
abstentions.

The motion was carried.

Resolution

The application for works to the trees is approved.

Councillor Joan Ellis returned to the meeting  

Page 12



118. Development Panel - WTPO/2019/0014 - 11 The Parklands Cockermouth - 
Pruning works to tree protected by TPO 

Application

The report recommended that the application for the works to the trees is 
approved.

The Compliance Officer for Planning/Place Development and Housing 
introduced the item and went through the main issues as detailed in the report.

An application was to carry out pruning works to an Oak tree within the garden 
of 11 The Parklands, Cockermouth. Following officers obtaining independent 
advice from an arborist, the application was amended on the 31st July 2019 to 
reflect the works recommended within the independent report carried out on 
behalf of the Council. Officers consider that the proposed works are acceptable 
following the legal process explained in this report.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Councillor Smith moved the motion to approve

The motion was seconded by Councillor Grainger

A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 12 voted in favour, 0 against and 0 
abstentions.

The motion was carried.

Resolution

The application for works to the trees is approved.

The meeting closed at 3.10 pm

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



Allerdale Borough Council

Planning Application FUL/2019/0187

Development Panel Report

Reference Number: FUL/2019/0187
Valid Date: 24/07/2019
Location: Energy Coast Laundry Joseph Noble Road 

Workington
Applicant: Mr J Robinson 
Proposal: Retrospective application for the change of use of 

former car sales site to industrial laundry with the 
retention of freestanding buildings for ancillary 
storage, employees mess room, boiler and 
compressor housing

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS

1.0 Summary

Issue Conclusion

Principle of Development The principle of a B2 - General Industrial 
use at this location is considered to be 
acceptable. The site is allocated for such 
purposes within an existing saved 
allocation under Policy S12 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan Part 1 and within the draft 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 2: Site 
Allocations. Industrial uses are the 
predominant land use and, therefore, a 
further B2 use at this location is 
considered to be compatible. 

Pollution Control The site is the subject of an Environmental 
Permit issued by the Environment Agency 
which regulates emissions from the site.

Having regard to the technical advice from 
statutory and non-statutory consultees, no 
concerns have been raised in relation to 
any risks posed to environmental quality or 
human health. The proposal is therefore 
considered acceptable in this respect, 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



having regard to relevant policies including 
S32, S35 and S36.  

Sustainability Lillyhall is allocated as a strategic 
employment site for B1, B2 and B8 uses 
within the settlement hierarchy. It is 
therefore established by the adopted Local 
Plan Part 1 that this is a ‘sustainable’ 
location for new business.  

2.0 Proposal

2.1 Planning permission is sought retrospectively for the change of use of a former 
car sales site (Sui Generis Use Class) to an industrial laundry (B2 Use Class), 
with the retention of freestanding buildings for ancillary storage, employees’ 
mess room, boiler and compressor housing. 

2.2 The Plans for considertaion are:-

DRW 01 Existing Plans & Elevations
Flood Map
Floor Plan
Location Plan

2.3 It is understood that the present laundry business takes and returns clothing for 
laundering only from the Sellafield Nuclear Site. However, planning permission 
relates to the general use class of any development proposed, in this case, a 
change from a Sui Generis Use (falling outsider a use class) - car sales, to Use 
Class B2 – General Industry. Planning controls do not extend to a particular 
operator within that Use Class or their clients. This is similar to retail 
development, where planning permission is given for an A1 Use Class as 
opposed to any particular store such as Tesco or Lidl. As such, the planning 
process must determine the acceptability of an industrial laundry within the B2 
Use Class at this location, and not the suitability of any individual operator or 
their client.

2.4 On a related matter, the operations undertaken at the site require an 
Environmental Permit from the Environment Agency. Planning and permitting 
decisions are separate but closely linked. Planning permission determines if a 
development is an acceptable use of the land. Permitting determines if an 
operation can be managed on an ongoing basis to prevent or minimise pollution. 
An Environmental Permit is in place for the application site and this Permit 
regulates emissions. Once the Environment Agency has granted a permit, they 
monitor compliance and enforce conditions as necessary. They also review 
environmental permits from time to time to make sure they continue to protect 
people and the environment.

Page 16



2.5 Guidance issued by the Environment Agency suggests that, when deciding a 
planning application that requires a Permit, planning authorities should:- 

a) Be confident the development will not result in unacceptable risks from 
pollution when considering if the development is an appropriate use of the 
land. 

b) Not focus on controlling pollution where it can be controlled by other 
pollution regulations, such as EPR. 

c) Take advice from other consenting bodies, such as the Environment 
Agency, in pre-application discussions about fundamental issues that 
could affect whether a development is acceptable.

3.0 Site

3.1 The proposal relates to an established premises within the Lillyhall Industrial  
Estate, accessed off Joseph Noble Road. The premises comprise of a medium 
sized industrial unit, with ancillary cabins and structures within the hardsurfaced 
forecourt. The site is secured by existing fencing with controlled access. A range 
of industrial units are located to the north, east, south and west of the site, with a 
small number of additional uses such as a café. Open land with some trees can 
be found directly to the south, with further industrial development to the south 
along Pitwood Road.

4.0 Relevant Planning History 

4.1 2/2006/0488 - Change of use of building and yard area to motor vehicle sales 
and valeting with associated customer parking. Approved. 

5.0 Representations

Winscales Parish Council
 
5.1 Object strongly to the continued use of Energy Coast Laundry. Councillors feel 

that the company is flouting regulations in trying to get planning permission 
through the back door. Winscales Parish Council stringently implores that 
Allerdale Borough Council rejects this planning application as it requires open 
discussion and transparency, plus a duty of care to residents and people using 
the business park on a daily basis. 

5.2 Winscales PC concerns are: 

a) It has only come to light to Winscales PC through ‘Radiation Free 
Lakeland’ that this company have been operating without planning 
permission on the Lillyhall Business Park since November of 2018.

b) Winscales PC was not consulted on the Nuclear Laundry being granted a 
radioactive substances permit by the Environment Agency following a 
brief one-month consultation period. The Environment Agency has not 

Page 17



been transparent as no consultation with local councils and members of 
the public took place. 

c) Daily Transportation of nuclear work items from Sellafield to the Lillyhall 
site, adding to the already increasing traffic in this area, risk of accidental 
radioactive contamination etc.. 

d) Sellafield has its own dedicated on-site Laundry with its own water supply 
from Wastwater, the rivers Ehen and Calder and Beckerment mine, but 
moving the nuclear laundry to Workington means that the water to wash 
up to 7.75 tonnes of Sellafield laundry a day will come from the already 
stressed public water supply. The water from the nuclear laundry would 
go into the public drains at Lillyhall and come out at Parton. 

e) Lillyhall was set up as a business park to diversify away from the nuclear 
industry but it is increasingly becoming a nuclear dumping ground for 
nuclear waste.

5.3 Winscales Parish Council agrees with campaigners who are pressing for the 
nuclear laundry to be halted as a matter of urgency saying that it needs to go 
through rigorous planning scrutiny from the full County Council. This cannot be 
construed as a job increasing opportunity as this is just transferring from 
Sellafield to Lillyhall on minimum wage, thus a cost saving to Sellafield. 
Furthermore Winscales Parish Council feel that, in this case, Allerdale Borough 
Council has held them in contempt as they were not consulted on the change of 
use from a car showroom and workshop to a laundry. Allerdale Borough Council 
after months of denial have now made an informal recommendation to approve 
retrospective planning permission for the illegal nuclear laundry.

ABC Environmental Health

5.4 1st response – requested additional information relating to Environmental Permit 
and Inspection Reports. 

5.5 2nd response – following the receipt of additional information, the Environmental 
Health Officer has confirmed no objections to the proposal and does not 
recommend any conditions as it is considered that the existing Permit adequately 
addresses this. 

Cumbria County Highways

5.6 No objections on highway safety grounds. Disposal of surface water to Mains 
sewer will require consent and applicant should demonstrate that there are no 
other means of disposal. Oil interceptors will be required under Building 
Regulations. 

Environment Agency

5.7 The Environment Agency has confirmed that an Environmental Permit has been 
issued for the site. No objections are raised to the application. They indicate that 

Page 18



this site has been set up to process laundry from ‘clean’ areas of nuclear sites 
However, to be prudent, they have applied for an environmental permit under 
schedule 23 so that, should they receive items that are lightly contaminated, then 
they are permitted to manage them.  As part of the permitting process we have 
assessed the radiological impact of this and we will periodically inspect again the 
conditions of their permit.

Health and Safety Executive

5.8 As this is not a planning matter relating to a Major Hazard site or pipeline then it 
is not then something that this team can help you with.

Office for Nuclear Regulation

5.9 This application falls outside of any GB nuclear consultation zone, therefore ONR 
has no comment to make. 

County Minerals and Waste

5.10 No objection.

Fire Officer

5.11 No comments received.

United Utilities

5.12 No comments received to date. 

Individual/Other representations

5.13 The application has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour 
letter. 

5.14 48 letters of representation have been received (up to 11th September 2019). The 
representations raise concerns summarised as follows:

a) Concerns that the operation of the Energy Coast Laundry represents a 
novel and cumulative impact on air and water quality by a cocktail of 
radionuclides and chemicals. 

b) The radioactive wastes from Energy Coast Laundry will go direct to the 
sewer system which culminates at the sewage works at Parton and is 
piped into the Solway Firth. 

c) Increasingly, sludge from sewage works is now being put onto agricultural 
land. While pathogens in the sludge can (usually) be killed off by liming, 
the cumulative impact of radionuclides from the Energy Coast Laundry 
would impact human health and the wider environment.

Page 19



d) No matter how much water is used in the washing of the nuclear laundry 
the ‘dilute and disperse’ policy does not make radioactive isotopes 
disappear. The perception and the reality of continuing the illegal nuclear 
laundry means that Allerdale and Copeland residents would experience 
threat to both their amenity and their health.

e) This would be contrary to a range of policies in the Allerdale Local Plan 
Part 1, including S29, S33, S35 and S36. 

f) Sellafield has its own laundry on site and dedicated water supply.

g) The proposal is contrary to Minerals and Waste policies of the County 
Council that require proposals for minerals and waste developments to be 
located where they:  minimise operational "minerals and waste road miles" 
where practicable”. Clearly Sellafield’s outsourcing of its laundry 16 miles 
away increases road miles substantially. The laundry vans turn around up 
to 7.75 tons of laundry a day, every day. This equates to 64 miles per day 
for two vehicles, 23,360 unnecessary miles per year adding to global 
warming. It should be dealt with on site. Other policies relating to climate 
change and cumulative environmental impacts are also relevant. 

h) This is no ordinary laundry. It is using up to 50 cubic metres of water a day 
- the same as a small town. This is 18 250 cubic metres or 
18 250 000 litres annually. This is coming from the public water supply 
and equates to approximately 250 persons' water for a year. This is set to 
grow with the ECL website stating that it caters for the nuclear industry as 
a whole, not ‘just’ Sellafield. This is not sustainable especially when 
Sellafield has its own dedicated water supplies from Wastwater, the Rivers 
Ehen and Calder and elsewhere. 

i) The Energy Coast Laundry should not be awarded retrospective planning 
permission to wash Sellafield’s dirty clothes on the Lillyhall Business Park, 
a stone’s throw from students, food outlets and play facilities for 
youngsters.

j) Request that this matter be discussed at County Council level.

k) Anything in contact with the nuclear process is highly dangerous and 
should be contained within the plant where it can be closely monitored. It 
should not be allowed to travel freely past residential areas.

l) This undertaking negatively impacts on the visual landscape character, 
cultural heritage, and agricultural resources of the region.

m) Given all the known nuclear energy "accidents" in the past decades there 
can be no justification to further imperil this land with a needless "laundry" 
when Sellafield has its own facilities.

n) The range of radionuclides expected to be discharged from this facility is a 
complex mix including alpha-emitters, detectable only at very close 

Page 20



quarters. We need to know what sampling and monitoring arrangements 
are in place both at Sellafield and on-site and how these will ensure any 
items with concentrations of radionuclides, including alpha particles, are 
picked up and removed from the process before they are discharged. The 
estimated doses provided by the Environment Agency do not cover such 
occasional – and dangerous - concentrations since they are averaged.

o) The release of radioactive material through the sewage system, with the 
potential for both build-up and dispersion, cannot be regarded as 
sustainable.

6.0 Environmental Impact Assessment

6.1 With regards to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 the development does not fall within Schedule 1 
nor 2 and, as such, is not EIA development.

7.0 Duties

7.1 None relevant.

8.0 Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

8.1 Lillyhall does not have Saved Settlement Limits but the site is within the Saved 
Employment Allocation WKEM6 - Local Employment allocations, Lillyhall Estate.

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

8.2 The following policies are considered applicable:-

Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 - Development Principles
Policy S6 - Workington 
Policy S12 – Land and Premises
Policy S13 – Energy Coast Innovation Zone
Policy S22 – Transport Principles
Policy S24 - Green infrastructure
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S30 - Reuse of Land
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity

Page 21



Policy S36 - Air, water and soil quality
Policy DM3 - Protection of Employment Sites
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy DM17 - Trees, hedgerows and woodland

9.0 Other material considerations

Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) Submission Draft

9.1 The site is within a Safeguarded Employment Site. The following policies are 
considered relevant:-

Policy SA35 – Safeguarding Employment Sites and Premises
Policy SA52 – Green Infrastructure

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

9.2 Paragraph 80 states:-

“Planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which 
businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on 
the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both 
local business needs and wider opportunities for development.”

9.2 Paragraph 180 states:-

“Planning policies and decisions should also ensure that new development is 
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including 
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural 
environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to 
impacts that could arise from the development.”

9.3 Paragraph 183 states:-

“The focus of planning policies and decisions should be on whether proposed 
development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of processes or 
emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes). 
Planning decisions should assume that these regimes will operate effectively.”

Allerdale Borough Council Plan 2019-2023:

9.4 Economic Opportunity and Growth - We will work to support Allerdale businesses 
to thrive and grow, attract new businesses to the area and create quality jobs. 

9.5 Stronger and Healthier Communities - We will work to make sure that our 
communities are healthy, safe, included and supported.

Page 22



10.0 Policy weighting 

10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, 
if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan 1999 saved settlement limits 
and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 policies have primacy.

10.2 A material consideration is the provisions of the revised NPPF. Paragraph 213 of 
the revised NPPF (2019) advises that the weight afforded to development plan 
policies can vary according to their degree of consistency with the framework 
(the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater 
the weight that may be given).

10.3 The Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) policies pre-date the revised NPPF and 
therefore full weight can only be afforded to those policies that are considered 
consistent with the revised NPPF. 

10.4 Policies relevant to the determination of this application are considered to be up 
to date and consistent with the NPPF.. 

10.5 Paragraph 48 of the revised NPPF specifies that weight can be given to 
emerging plans according to their stage of preparation, the extent to which there 
are unresolved objections and the degree of consistency with the Framework. 

10.6 A reasonable level of objection was raised to policies SA35 and SA52, which 
may require resolution, but the matters are not considered to be overly 
contentious. The policies are considered to be broadly in line with the National 
Planning Policy Framework. Therefore some weight (but not significant weight) 
can be accorded to them in decision making.

11.0 Assessment

Principle of development

11.1 The site was allocated in the 1999 Local Plan under Policy WKEM as an 
employment allocation, and this allocation is saved by virtue of Policy S12 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan Part 1. Existing employment sites and allocations are 
retained and safeguarded until these are reviewed through the site allocations 
process. Policy S12 specifies that the Council will support development, 
redevelopment and change of use proposals within employment sites as defined 
on the Proposals Map, providing that the proposal is included within the use 
class B1, B2, B8 or appropriate Sui generis (employment). The Allerdale Local 
Plan Part 2 Submission Draft Policy SA35 seeks to continue the safeguarding of 
this strategic site for the same employment uses. 

Page 23



11.2 As a B2 use, the proposed industrial laundry would be compliant with the 
retained allocation and the requirements of Policy S12 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan. Industry is the prevailing land use within the locality and therefore, in land 
use terms, the proposed B2 industrial use would be compatible with the 
surrounding area. 

11.3 The proposal would also see the re-use of previously developed land, in 
accordance with Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1. 

11.4 As such, the principle of the development is considered to be acceptable. 

Control of pollution

11.5 A number of policies within the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 seek to ensure that 
new development does not have an adverse impact on environmental quality and 
human health, including policies S32, S35 and S36 in particular.  Policy S32 
clarifies that proposals will not be supported where they would result in pollution 
or hazards which prejudice the health and safety of communities and their 
environments, including nature conservation interests and the water environment 
which cannot be overcome by appropriate mitigation measures.

11.6 It is acknowledged that a number of representations raise concerns with the 
potential for the proposal to increase risks to human health and environmental 
quality through the dispersal of potentially contaminated/radioactive materials 
beyond the Sellafield site. The reasoning given in the concerns is based upon the 
transportation of materials and through the discharge of materials to air or water 
during the laundry process. 

11.7 Members are reminded that consideration of the proposal, in planning terms, 
relates to the appropriateness of the land use - an industrial laundry under a B2 
use class. Such a laundry, could process garments from a range of different 
sources across a range of sectors and locations. Existing industrial laundries 
could accept garments from Sellafield without any recourse to planning, provided 
they obtained the appropriate Permit.

11.8 However, it is clear from the submission that the proposed laundry will process 
garments arising from the Sellafield Ltd, and additional information has been 
sought relating to the level of checking provided on site at Sellafield before 
products leave the site, in order to clarify matters for Members of the 
Development Panel.  

11.9 Laundry is monitored at several separate points at Sellafield to confirm activity 
levels are within normal/expected parameters prior to being released off-site to 
the laundry. The submission details that:

a) The laundry processes dirty basic workwear from the Sellafield site, 
including towels, socks, trousers, pants, vests and shirts, dealing only 
with non-active items. 

Page 24



b) All areas at Sellafield are controlled by local rules which govern how an 
area is entered and exited and the equipment worn.

c) Once an operative exits an area they attend a frisk probe with which they 
must examine their whole outer body to look for potential contamination.

d) Once the operative has then washed their hands, they enter an IPM which 
is a whole-body Contamination Monitor, this checks the clothing and the 
body front and back.

e) Operatives will then take off the basic workwear, which is put into 
respective bins for shirts, trousers, socks etc. 

f) These are then monitored by a Health Physics Monitor using approved 
scanning equipment to ensure there is no activity present.

g) Finally, the vehicle passing out through the gates is scanned by fissile 
material detectors which would activate in the event there was any 
reading detected.

11.10 The applicant has also clarified that the Sellafield site did have its own non-active 
laundry, but that this has now closed, due to the moving of their existing active 
laundry which has had to be repositioned in the area of the old one.  As such, 
there is now no facility on site for the washing of non-active laundry.  

11.11 As part of the consideration of the application, technical advice has been sought 
from a range of statutory and non-statutory consultees. Both the Health and 
Safety Executive and the Office for Nuclear Regulation have confirmed that they 
do not wish to comment on the proposal. 

11.12 The Environment Agency has confirmed that an Environmental Permit is in place 
for the processes undertaken on site and, as part of the permitting process, they 
have assessed the radiological impact of this and will periodically inspect again 
the conditions of the permit. The Permit requires procedures to be in place that 
cover general management and competencies, operations, monitoring to air 
(gaseous discharges) and water (aqueous discharges) and sets ‘limits’ for 
discharges of contaminants to water and air that must not be exceeded at the 
facility. To ensure compliance, the operator is required to undertake regular 
sampling, with testing/analysis undertaken by competent persons outside the 
organisation. The Environment Agency has raised no objections to the proposal.

11.13 Allerdale’s Environmental Health, having reviewed the Permit and additional 
inspection data, have advised no objections to the proposal and do not 
recommend any conditions on the basis that pollution prevention measures by 
best practicable means are being secured by the Permit already in place. 

11.14 Whilst the concerns of the public are understandable, given that the laundry 
materials are subject to monitoring before their release, that an Environmental 
Permit is in place, and that the technical advice provided by the Permitting 
Authority (Environment Agency) and Environmental Health has not raised any 

Page 25



concerns with the proposal, then a refusal in respect to relevant policies that 
seek to protect human health and environmental quality, is not considered to be 
justified in this instance. No conditions are recommended relating to the 
monitoring or mitigation of pollution, as this is secured through the Environmental 
Permit.     

Sustainability

11.15 Policies S2 and S22 of the ALP (Part 1) seek to ensure that new development is 
located in areas that help to reduce journey times, have safe and convenient 
access to public transport, improve travel choice and reduce the need to travel by 
private motor vehicles. These policies accord with Paragraph 32 of the NPPF 
which seek to ensure sustainable transport modes are maximised and 
development is safe and accessible. 

11.16 The application site forms part of a larger, strategic employment allocation that 
has been saved from the 1999 Local Plan and is being taken forward as part of 
the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2, Site Allocations. As part of this ongoing 
allocation, the Lillyhall Estate has been assessed and determined to be a 
sustainable location for existing and future employment uses. The site is 
strategically located between both Workington and Whitehaven and is served by 
regular public transport.  As such, Lillyhall, as a location for new employment 
uses, is sustainable.

11.17 However, representations from the public specifically question the sustainability 
of removing laundry facilities for non-active workwear from the Sellafield site itself 
and re-locating this to Lillyhall, on the basis that this will generate four vehicle 
movements a day over 16 miles. Again, this is a specific issue relating to the 
operator/client base of this particular business, rather than a general issue 
arising from the proposed land use.  

11.18 Any industrial laundry is likely to generate some level of traffic movement 
because the moving of the laundry itself is unlikely to be achievable by modes 
other than private vehicles. By locating within a strategic employment allocation, 
then this B2 use and other employment uses falling within B1, B2 and B8 
conform to the spatial hierarchy within Policy S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 
1, which directs new development in accordance with the settlement hierarchy, in 
order to achieve sustainable development. 

11.19 Specifically, with regards to the relocation of the laundry from Sellafield, whilst it 
would give rise to four vehicle movements a day to transport the laundry 
garments over 16 miles, it is also likely to result in differing travel patterns for 
staff. The journey times for the 12 full time staff at the laundry could increase or 
decrease as a result of the re-location, depending on their places of residence. 
As noted above, regular public transport would be available to Lillyhall and the 
re-location would potentially alleviate some of the congestion issues known to be 
experienced at the Sellafieild site. As such, it is not possible to conclude that the 
proposal would only result in is less sustainable transport movements as 
indicated by objectors and, given that new employment uses are directed to the 
strategic site at Lillyhall as part of the overall settlement hierarchy, the 

Page 26



development can be concluded to be sustainable in relation to policies S1, S2 
and S22. 

11.20 The Highways Authority has raised no concerns in relation to the access/egress 
provision and parking for the proposed use. 

Visual Amenity

11.21 Policies S4 and S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 seek to ensure that new 
development does not have an adverse impact on the visual amenities of the 
locality. 

11.22 The proposal has resulted in the introduction of some external structures, such 
as containers to house laundry liquids. The main building already has the benefit 
of permission and the additional structures are subservient to this building and 
typical of an industrial process and what can be seen elsewhere in Lillyhall. The 
site is also relatively visually contained and the views of the new structures are 
limited, especially from receptors beyond the industrial estate. As such the 
proposal is considered to accord with policies S4 and S32 insofar as they relate 
to visual amenity and landscape considerations. 

Green Infrastructure

11.23 Land to the southern boundary of the site is undeveloped and is noted as green 
infrastructure in the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 Submission Draft. The proposal 
will have no impact on this area.  

Local Financial Considerations

11.24 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will 
have financial implications arising from Business Rates Revenue. This is 
considered to have very limited weight in the determination of the application.

12.0 Conclusions

12.1 The development is considered to be acceptable in principle. The industrial 
laundry is considered to fall under Use Class B2 – General Industrial, and the 
site is allocated for B1, B2 and B8 uses as a saved allocation within the Allerdale 
Local Plan Part 1 and following the review of employment land allocations as part 
of the draft Allerdale Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations. As an allocated 
employment site, it is considered to be a sustainable location for this 
development, having regard to the settlement hierarchy and spatial strategy for 
the Borough. 

12.2 Whilst the concerns of those making representations are noted, the technical 
advice of consultees has been sought and no concerns have been raised. An 
Environmental Permit is in place to control and monitor operations at the site 
through separate regulatory controls. 

Page 27



12.3 The proposal is considered to be acceptable, having regard to relevant policies of 
the Local Plan and advice contained within the NPPF.  

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS

Page 28



Annex 1

CONDITIONS

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans:

DRW 01 Existing Plans & Elevations
Floor Plan
Location Plan

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

.Advisory Note 

None

Page 29



P
age 30



P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 32



Allerdale Borough Council

Planning Application OUT/2019/0028

Development Panel Report

Reference Number: OUT/2019/0028
Valid Date: 09/07/2019
Location: Low Road Cockermouth
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Bob Slack 
Proposal: Outline application for residential development of 27 

dwellings including access junction, layout, scale and 
appearance for plots 2-6 inclusive and landscaping 
for buffer zone only (resubmission to 2/2018/0537).

RECOMMENDATION

THAT THE DECISION TO GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS BE 
DELEGATED TO THE PLANNING AND BUILING CONTROL MANAGER UPON THE 
COMPLETION OF A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT THAT SECURES:

 COMPLETION OF LAND LEVEL CHANGES PERMITTED BY PERMISSION 
2/2017/0312.

 PROVISION AND FUTURE MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE OF 
LANDSCAPING BELT DIRECTLY EAST OF PLOTS 2-6

 10 AFFORDABLE HOUSING UNITS ON SITE

 £4,431.60 TO UPGRADE EXISTING FACILITIES FOR CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE AT THE LAUREATES OR PROVIDE A PLAY AREA ON 
SITE

1.0 Summary

Issue Conclusion

Tilted Balance The adverse impacts of permitting the development 
would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits. 

Principle of Development The scale of the development is considered 
commensurate to the size and role of Cockermouth as 
a Key Service Centre. The site is adjacent to the 
Laureates housing to the west.

The site is sustainably located within acceptable 
walking distance of the town, connected by lit, 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



segregated footways and a bus service.

Highway safety Access is not reserved for subsequent approval. The 
proposed highway arrangements are considered 
acceptable. The Highways Authority raise no 
objections. 

Landscape and Visual 
Effects

The landscape and visual impact is not significantly 
adverse and can be mitigated through an appropriate 
landscaping scheme secured by condition and s106 
agreement.

Heritage Assets In the context of the duty contained within S66(1) and 
the special regard to be paid to the desirability of 
preserving the setting of the listed buildings, officers 
consider, in this instance, that the overall level of harm 
to the heritage asset would amount to less than 
substantial. The benefits of the scheme outlined in the 
report outweigh the limited harm incurred to the setting 
of The Fitz. The setting of Papcastle’s conservation 
area, in terms of its character and appearance, will be 
preserved. 

Affordable Housing The proposed development would provide 10 
affordable housing units on the site. This equates to 
40% and fulfils the Local Plan policy requirements.

2.0 Proposal

2.1 The applicant seeks an enhanced outline permission for the erection of 27 
dwellings on land at The Fitz, Low Road, Cockermouth. 

2.2 The application seeks permission for the principle of a residential development of 
27 dwellings, including the provision of 10 affordable units on site. Access is to be 
considered as part of this outline consent which will be from a single access point 
from Low Road. 

2.3 Whilst the matters pertaining to appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are 
reserved matters for the majority of the site, the application is seeking approval of 
layout, scale and appearance for plots 2-6 inclusively only which are to the eastern 
most part of the site and the landscaping within the buffer zone which lies to the 
east of Plots 2-6. The current scheme has been slightly amended to move the 
siting of the dwellings on plots 3-6 10m forward into the individual plots to create a 
greater separation distance from the The Fitz Grade II Listed Mansion. The scale 
and appearance of the dwellings themselves have not been amended. 

Page 34



2.4 The Plans for consideration are:-

14/11/848-01 Site Location Plan 
14/11/848 – 105 Site Plan Plots 2-6
14/11/848 – 05 Dwelling Type A & A/1 – Floor Plans
14/11/848 - 06 Dwelling Type A - Elevations 
14/11/848 – 07 Dwelling Type A/1 - Elevations 
14/11/848 – 103a) Enlarged Visibility Splay Plan 
M3046-PA-02-V03 Landscape Layout
Email 30/07/2019 – amended description
Archaeological Evaluation and Excavation Report
Flood Risk Assessment
Phase 1 Ecological Habitat Survey
Heritage Statement 
Landscape and Visual Appraisal 
Road Safety Audit
Transport Statement
Revised Heads of Terms received 13 September 2019

3.0 Site

3.1 The application site incorporates a total of 4.3 hectares of greenfield land located 
on the western edge of Cockermouth adjacent to Low Road. It constitutes part of 
the grounds associated with The Fitz, a Grade II Listed Georgian mansion house, 
dating from the 19th century.

3.2 Rolling gently between 38 and 40m AOD, the application site comprises a raised 
area to the west and an area of pastoral grassland to the east, separated by a 
mature beech hedgerow with hedgerow trees (oak) therein.

3.3 The field to the west has been raised by the importation of appropriate fill in order 
to achieve the levels approved within application 2/2014/0880 (proposal for 16 
houses and associated remodelling to improve flood resilience). The part of the 
site to the east of the hedgerow also has permission for the land to be raised. 
However, this area is yet to receive any fill.

3.4 The northern boundary is defined by a wire and post fence separating the site from 
the recently constructed pedestrian cycleway with Low Road beyond and the 
adjacent stone wall. Beyond are a number of mature, protected trees. The east 
boundary is defined by a mature hedgerow, which is supplemented by a number of 
immature oak trees. The southern and western boundaries are defined by the tree 
belt forming part of Fitz Wood. Beyond, on higher ground, is the “The Laureates” 
residential development (with permission for 217 dwellings (Reference 
2/2014/0415) but currently only part-complete). The houses directly adjacent to the 
site are complete and occupied. Along the western boundary, within the tree belt, 
runs an unnamed watercourse that is a minor tributary of the River Derwent. 

Page 35



4.0 Relevant Planning History

On site

Outline application:

4.1 An outline scheme for 27 dwellings including the access junction, layout, scale and 
appearance of plots 2-6 inclusive and landscaping of the buffer zone only, was 
refused (Reference 2/2018/0537. The reason for refusal was:-

          “The proposal by reason of the introduction of additional housing nearer to the 
heritage asset, namely the Fitz, will adversely impact on the setting of that asset 
contrary to Policy S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019. This harm is not outweighed by the public 
benefits of the proposal.”

          This application is currently subject of an appeal.

4.2 A scheme for 16no dwellings was granted outline planning permission (Reference 
2/2014/0880) in 2014. This application included the provision of 6 affordable units 
and 10 open market dwellings on site. The principle of development also included 
the consideration of earthworks that were necessary to raise the level of the site 
by 1.0 - 2.25m. Matters pertaining to access, appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale were all reserved for subsequent approval as part of any future Reserved 
Matters application. 

4.3 The application also granted permission for the principle of the excavation of land 
within the wider parkland to a depth of 0.25 - 1.75 to create a depression that 
would act as a flood storage compensation area to offset the loss incurred by the 
development of the 16 dwellings.

4.4 The earthworks have commenced and, therefore, the permission is extant. 

Reserved Matters:

4.5 A subsequent Reserved Matters application was received (Reference 
2/2017/0316) and approved September 2017. The details approved were for 2 
storey dwellings. The open market units consisted of 5 bed dwellings, whereas the 
affordable units were all 3 bed. 

 
4.6 The development of the site necessitated a compensatory flood scheme whereby 

earth would be moved from the parkland onto the development site and land 
immediately adjacent to the east. This would have resulted in both areas being 
raised into Flood Zone 1. The site would be raised to a level of 40.70 AOD. An 
area of parkland further east would also be lowered into Flood Zone 2 with a swale 
provided (application 2/2017/0312). 

4.7 The site was proposed to be accessed via the existing junction onto Low Road (B 
5292) which was approved as part of the adjacent residential development ‘The 
Laureates’ housing estate that is currently under construction, utilising the new 

Page 36



junction created onto Low Road and its main thoroughfare. The proposed 
development was to be served by a 4.8m wide estate road. This would have 
traversed the watercourse along the western boundary before connecting to the 
main thoroughfare serving The Laureates. The application confirmed that a 
replacement bridge would have been constructed across the watercourse and that 
this, and the estate road, would have remained unadopted with future 
maintenance being undertaken by a management company. 

4.8 A full detailed Landscape Layout was approved that illustrated stone walling and 
hedgerows to garden boundaries and trees to front and rear garden areas. 
Additional tree planting was proposed for the eastern boundary to strengthen it 
and create a curved belt that would mirror the belt located on the south-eastern 
boundary of the parkland. 

Improvements to flood resilience:

4.9 As discussed above, to accommodate the 16 approved dwellings, it was 
necessary to change the levels of the site. The site level on site were previously 
fairly constant around 38.5m AOD in the north west corner adjacent to Low Road 
to 40.00m to the south east of the Fitz Park estate land. An application was 
received solely for re-modelling grounds on the parkland levels to improve flood 
resilience (Reference 2/2017/0312).

4.10 The works would have created a 30,200m3 shallow basin, with a base level of 
40.00m AOD. The material would be removed from the land to the frontage of The 
Fitz creating a shallow flood compensatory area.

4.11 CON1/2017/0312 - Works have commenced on site to raise a section of the land, 
and therefore this permission is also extant.

Development adjacent to site

Retail/business units (north of Low Road):

4.12 An application was considered by the Council (Reference 2/2018/0070) for 
detailed consent the erection of a retail unit (Class A1) with external garden centre 
and outline consent for an employment unit (Class B1, B2 and B8). This 
application lies opposite the Fitz Parkland. The application was refused. This 
application is currently at appeal.

4.13 A further hybrid application was resubmitted (Reference 2/2018/0529) for detailed 
consent for erection of a retail unknit (Class A1) with external garden centre and 
outline consent for an employment unit (Class B1, B2 and B8). The application 
was refused.

The Laureates Housing Estate:

4.14 2/2010/0542: A portion of the application site was included in the area for this 
application.

Page 37



4.15 2/2014/0048 and 2/2014/0415: A portion of the application site was included in the 
site area for these applications (superseding 2/2010/0542), which granted 
planning permission for a residential development of 217 dwellings. The 
development fronting Low Road has been constructed and occupied.

5.0 Representations

Cockermouth Town Council

5.1 Recommend Refusal. Overdevelopment of site, detrimental to the setting of a 
listed building, oversupply contrary to policy S3 of ALP Part 1 and no housing 
identified in part 2 of ALP. 

ABC Environmental Health

5.2 No objections subject to conditions.

Cumbria County Council Highways/Lead Local Flood Authority 

           Highways

5.3 The proposed access is identical to the previous plan submitted under reference 
2/2018/0537. Our previous comments sent 19 December 2018 recommending 
approval subject to conditions should therefore be applied to this application. 

5.4 I would however note that, during any reserved matters, any highway layout 
should include a 2m service strip on one side of the highway, and any footway 
should overlap the shared highway to allow pedestrians to transition safely from 
each surface. 

5.5 2/2018/0537 comments “The applicant submitted a transport statement, safety 
audit and designers response which is welcomed and its comments noted. These 
documents clearly show that this application can be accommodated on the local 
highway network.

 
5.6 The comments made by the safety audit team and designers response should be 

implemented prior to any works starting on site to ensure that the current users of 
the footpath can continue to use it in safety. 

5.7 The safe usage of the footpath will also need to be addressed in the Construction 
Management Plan.”

Flood/drainage 

5.8 2/2018/0537 comments “The applicant has submitted a flood risk assessment. 
This is welcomed. 

5.9 This document, however, does show that the site will need some extensive works 

Page 38



to allow for the appropriate drainage of the site whilst not increasing the flood risk 
elsewhere. As we stated in the 2014 application, the concept is of raising site 
levels so as to render the site within flood Zone1 and provide compensatory 'flood 
plain' within land to the east. We have to express a preference for SuDS utilising 
infiltration with surface features to deal with exceedance events; it's gratifying to 
see the site investigations are indicating infiltration will work; thus the raising of site 
levels will need to be in free draining materials, suitably compacted and subject to 
second infiltration tests in soakaway positions. 

5.10 The Lead Local Flood Authority and Local highway Authority has no objections to 
this application. We would however recommend the inclusion of conditions in any 
consent you might grant.”

Environment Agency

5.11 The proposed development falls within flood zone 2, and should be dealt with by 
yourselves using the Flood Risk Standing Advice for local planning authorities.

United Utilities

Drainage/Maintenance

5.12 Recommend conditions relating to foul and surface water been drained on a 
separate system and for maintenance of SW drainage. 

Water Comment

5.13 Advise presence of water main and sewer in close proximity to site boundary. 
Construction Risk Assessment Method Statement required via condition.

Historic England

5.14 We do not wish to offer any comments.

Cockermouth Civic Trust

5.15 Objection. The proposed application to increase and amend an extant outline 
approval for 17 dwellings to 27 constitutes considerable overdevelopment.

5.16 This proposal seeks to add 10 more dwellings, increase the site area by 
approximately 100%, and create a new access on to Low Road.

5.17 Whilst the last approved application was unacceptable use of open parkland, it 
was sufficiently distant from the Fitz manor and only occupied a small portion of 
existing parkland. This application, however, seeks to double the area of 
development requiring a significant portion of the existing parkland to be 
developed.

5.18 The addition of 10 houses in relative terms will have little impact on the wider 
settlement but the increased use of existing parkland that surrounds the Fitz 

Page 39



Manor and provides an open green landscape on the edge of the main settlement 
area of Cockermouth will have measurable and significant impact on the listed 
asset and the approach in to town.

5.19 The open landscape surrounding the Fitz manor is designated as agricultural, 
however, given its location and setting within the town of Cockermouth, and as a 
designed backdrop to the Georgian villa, it must be assessed as important green 
infrastructure and open space as outlined and protected in policy S24 and S35.

5.20 The proposal is therefore contrary to local policy and will cause measurable harm 
to the listed asset and should be refused.

County Archaeologist

5.21 The site has been subject to an archaeological investigation that recorded the 
archaeological assets that will be disturbed by the proposed development. This 
work has been completed and I therefore confirm that I have no objections and do 
not wish to make any recommendations or comments.

Natural England

5.22 No objection subject to appropriate mitigation being secured.

5.23 We consider that without appropriate mitigation the application would:

 Give an adverse effect on the integrity of River Derwent Special Area of 
Conservation.

 Damage or destroy the interest features for which River Derwent and 
Tributaries Site of Special Scientific Interest has been notified.

5.24 In order to mitigate these adverse effects and make the development acceptable, 
the following mitigation measures are required / or the following mitigation options 
should be secured:

 Construction Environment Management Plan

5.25 We advise that an appropriate planning condition or obligation is attached to any 
planning permission to secure these measures.

Cumbria Wildlife Trust

5.26 No reply to date.

Cumbria Constabulary 

5.27 No reply to date.

Page 40



          ABC Housing Services

5.28 Policy S8 of the Allerdale Local Plan (part 1) requires 40% affordable provision on 
developments in Cockermouth. The tenure split of affordable provision will be 
determined at reserved matters and should be in line with that specified in Policy 
S8 of the Local Plan and current NPPF guidance.

5.29 The 2016 Housing Study showed that the affordable housing need in Cockermouth 
and its adjoining parishes of Bridekirk, Brigham, Dean, Papcastle, Embleton and 
Setmurphy is mostly for three bed properties for general needs and one bed 
properties for general needs. There is a lesser need for affordable four and five 
bed properties for general needs and one and three bed properties for older 
persons.

Fire Officer

5.30 No reply to date.

Sports, Art and Leisure Officer

5.31 No reply to date.

County Planning (Minerals and Waste) 

5.32 No reply to date

Access Officer

5.33 No comment in respect of access into buildings for disable people.

Individual/Other representations

5.34 The application has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour 
letter. 

5.35 9 letters of objection have been received. The grounds for objections are 
summarised as follows:

 Given the current climate change crisis, concern is raised about the loss of 
many mature trees and the open grass space. Many studies have proved the 
benefit of trees and green spaces on mental health.

 Building on the floodplain causes all surface water runoff into the river, 
resulting in even more severe flood than the last.

 In terms of infrastructure, our small town is overrun by cars and if more houses 
are to be built, they are most likely to own at least one car, which will put even 
more strain on the already busy traffic system.

 Can the schools, medical care, dentists etc accommodate the additional 
children and families. 

 Further contraction of Cockermouth’s parklands and open spaces will have 

Page 41



detrimental effect on the town which has already undergone a very significant 
expansion of new properties in recent years. The land is designated as 
protected open space in the pending Part Local Plan.

 The proposed site almost doubles the area of heritage land which will be built 
on, which represents an unacceptable erosion of a valued asset which is 
contrary to Policy S27. 

 The park’s landscaping is integral to the original Fitz house, and carving up of 
the green space fronting the house would ruin forever a heritage landscape.

 The proposal would result in a significant reduction in the area of parkland and 
would impact adversely on the setting of the listed mansion.

 There is currently a balance between The Fitz and its parkland. The approved 
16 houses will be tucked into a tapering corner at the western end of the 
parkland and enclosed by the existing mature beech hedge. The additional 11 
dwellings would result in significant reduction in the area of parkland and 
would impact on the setting of the listed mansion.

 Public benefit is not proven since it would mean the permanent loss of historic 
parkland and open greenspace. 

 The new access road is on a dangerous bend and would require the removal 
of mature trees and hedges. 

 Another junction would lead to more traffic turning, with more resulting 
congestion in the town.

 Nothing has changed since the last application. An encroachment on parkland 
and totally unnecessary as the works on the Laureates estate has ground to a 
halt and the developer is unable to sell the remaining properties. 

 Loss of existing TPO trees and hedgerows due to visibility splays at the site 
entrance.

5.36 A further letter has been received that accompanies a 415 signature petition 
collected over a 3 week period. The text of the petition is as follows “We the 
undersigned wish to register our concern about the proposal to build extra houses 
on an additional field at the Fitz. We are concerned about the loss of heritage 
parkland and the proposal to build a new access road on Low Road, meaning the 
loss of mature trees and part of the new footpath and cycle path to the Laureates 
estate”.

Response on behalf of Allerdale & Copeland Green Party

5.37 The proposed housing is situated on The Fitz, protected heritage park and is 
therefore contrary to Policy S27 of ALP and the NPPF.

5.38 Cockermouth has fulfilled its obligation to provide land for house-building and 
construction is underway to fulfil the current projected housing needs, including 
affordable housing.

5.39 The site is situated sufficiently far from the town centre that many residents will 
use their cars to access shops and social events. 

5.40 Cockermouth is already subject to significant traffic congestion and no attempt has 
been made to monitor air pollution at significant points (at the roundabout at the 

Page 42



junction of Low Road and Gote Road in particular). This proposal would only add 
to an already bad situation.

5.41 The Government has declared a climate emergency. We are witnessing frequent 
extreme weather events. The land at the Fitz is low-lying, close to the river 
Derwent and although currently assessed as low risk by the Environment Agency 
this is likely to change in the coming years.  

6.0 Environmental Impact Assessment

6.1 The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
2017. The development does not fall within Schedule 1 nor 2 and, as such, is not 
EIA development.

7.0 Duties

7.1 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires that the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the listed building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  

7.2 Section 72(1) of the Listed Buildings Act 1990 states that, with respect to any 
buildings or other land in a conservation area, special attention shall be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.

7.3 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 state that competent 
authorities are required to make an appropriate assessment of any plan or project 
they intend to permit or carry out, if the plan or project is likely to have a significant 
effect upon a European site. The permission may only be given if the plan or 
project is ascertained to have no adverse effect upon the integrity of the European 
site. If the competent authority wishes to permit a plan or project despite a 
negative assessment, imperative reasons of over-riding public interest must be 
demonstrated, and there should be no alternative to the scheme. 

7.4 Regulation 9 (1) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 
requires all public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats 
Directive in the exercise of their functions.

8.0 Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

8.1 Saved Settlement limits – The site is outside of the limits for Cockermouth.

Page 43



Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

8.2 The following policies apply:-

Policy S1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Policy S2 – Sustainable Development Principles
Policy S3 – Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 – Design Principles
Policy S5 – Development Principles
Policy S6c – Cockermouth
Policy S7 – A Mixed and Blanced Housing Market
Policy S8 – Affordable Housing
Policy S21 – Developer Contributions
Policy S22 – Transport Principles
Policy S27 – Heritage Assets
Policy S30 - Reuse of Land
Policy S32 – Safeguarding Amenity
Policy S33 – Landscaping
Policy S35 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiviersity
Policy S36 – Air, Water and Soil Quality
Policy DM14 – Standards of Good Design
Policy DM17 – Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland

9.0 Other material considerations

           Draft Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) 

9.1 The northwestern part of the site that already has planning permission is to be 
included within the proposed revised settlement limit.

          National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)

9.2 Paragraph 213 advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 
vary according to their degree of consistency with the framework (the closer the 
policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that 
may be given).

9.3 Paragraph 11 (d) states that:

“where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission 
unless: i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets 
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole.”

Page 44



Allerdale Council Plan 2019-2023

9.4 Tackling inequality - Helping to create more affordable housing where it is needed 
most across the Borough, for example through Community Land Trusts or using 
our own assets or land, and bringing empty properties into affordable

9.5 Strengthening our economy - Supporting the development of more homes where 
they are needed by    looking  for opportunities to develop key worker housing for 
the health and nuclear sectors; and aspirational housing where appropriate in line 
with our Local Plan.

10.0 Policy weighting

10.1 Notwithstanding any duties identified above, Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the 
development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the 
planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local 
Plan 1999 saved settlement limits and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 
2014 policies have primacy.

10.2 However, paragraph 212 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 
advises that the policies in that Framework are material considerations which 
should be taken into account in dealing with applications from the day of its 
publication. In this context it is noted that paragraph 213 of the NPPF 2019 
advises that due weight should be given to development plan policies according to 
their degree of consistency with the NPPF (the closer the policies in the plan to the 
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).

10.3 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF also advises that, where the development plan policies 
which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, 
permission should be granted permission unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole (the tilted balance).

10.4 In this instance, policies within the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance are applicable to the determination of the application. The site lies 
within Flood Zone 2, it lies within close proximity to a designated SAC/SSSI and 
has the potential to impact on the setting of a listed building. For these reasons, 
policies within the NPPF relating to the consideration of these assets are relevant. 

10.5 A further material consideration is the appeal decision for land at Little Broughton 

Page 45



(PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948) which specifically addressed the weighting 
afforded to development plan policies in the context of paragraphs 215 and 14 of 
the former NPPF.

10.6 Whilst policies S3 and S5 are out of date in relation to the settlement limits, they 
are not considered to be out of date in all respects.  Nor does it mean that other 
Local Plan Part 1 policies are out of date and should not be afforded substantial or 
full weight where they are consistent with the provisions of the NPPF 2019. In this 
instance, it is assessed that the settlement hierarchy within policy S3 can be 
afforded substantial weight given its consistency with the sustainability principles 
of the NPPF 2019 as can the criteria a) to f) of policy S5. 

10.7 Finally, weight can also be afforded to emerging plans, that weight dependent on 
the stage of preparation, the extent of unresolved objections and consistency with 
the provisions of the NPPF 2019. Draft Part 2 of the Local Plan has now been 
submitted to the Secretary of State for public examination by an Inspector, which 
has taken place although a decision is still awaited and therefore is at a relatively 
advanced stage. The northwestern part of the site that already has planning 
permission is to be included within the proposed revised settlement limit. Due to 
the extent of unresolved objections relating to the revised settlement boundaries 
(SA2) only limited weight, in this instance and at this time, is being given to the 
relevant Draft Part 2 policies relating to settlement limits.    

11.0 Assessment:

Introduction

11.1 The site has been the subject of a previous application (Reference 2/2018/0537) 
for the works currently proposed under this application in the form of outline 
consent for 27 dwellings including the access junction from Low Road, layout, 
scale and appearance of plots 2-6 inclusive and landscaping of the buffer zone 
only. 

11.2 As reported earlier, the current scheme has been slightly amended to move the 
siting of the dwellings on plots 3-6 10m forward into the individual plots to create a 
greater separation distance from the The Fitz Grade II Listed Mansion. The scale 
and appearance of the dwellings themselves have not been amended. 

Principle of development

11.3 Policy S3 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) (adopted July 2014) (ALP) sets out 
the framework for development across the area. In order to achieve sustainable 
growth it seeks to direct the majority of new growth to Workington, as the principal 
centre, together with other key and local service centres. Beyond this a limited 
amount of growth is expected to take place in a number of identified villages. 

11.4 Cockermouth is identified as a Key Service Centre in the settlement hierarchy and 
it is anticipated that Key Service Centres will see large scale housing growth. 

Page 46



Subject to certain criteria, Policy S5 indicates that new development will be 
concentrated within the physical limits of such locations, providing that the scale of 
the development proposed is commensurate to the size of the settlement and 
reflects its position within the hierarchy overall. 

11.5 The site falls outside of the saved (1999) settlement limit of Cockermouth. The 
Broughton appeal referenced above clarified that these settlement limits are 
considered to be out of date and afforded little weight.  

11.6 The delivery of the Local Plan Part 1’s strategic policy objectives requires land 
beyond the existing settlement limits to be delivered during this phase of the Plan 
period. Although the part 2 Draft Submission proposes the western most part of 
the site to be included within the proposed settlement boundary for housing, the 
eastern field for the additional 11 dwellings will remain outside of the settlement 
limit. 

11.7 Nevertheless, Cockermouth is required to maintain its role as a Key Service 
Centre throughout the adopted Local Plan period. In advance of part 2 allocations 
and the new settlement limits being tested and being adopted, it is appropriate for 
other sites to come forward to meet this role. 

11.8 The development to the west of the site at The Laureates and the approval for 
development of part of the current application site demonstrates the settlement 
limit in the 1999 Plan no longer reflects the extent of the built up area on this south 
side of Low Road. 

11.9 Furthermore, the approved residential development for 16 dwellings 
(2/2014/0880), with works on site retaining the permission as live, must be 
afforded weight as a material consideration. This application accepted the principle 
of housing in this location, beyond the western edge of the existing settlement limit 
as defined in the ALP 1999. The current application seeks the development of a 
further area of open parkland for an additional 11 dwellings only.

11.10 The NPPF indicates that housing allocations should be considered in the context 
of the presumption in favour of sustainable development. With the strategic 
housing supply policies out of date, the provisions of paragraph 11 of the NPPF 
are engaged.

11.11 The Council must therefore consider whether the tilted balance applies (criterion ii 
of paragraph 11) or if or the application of policies in this Framework that protect 
areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed (criterion i). These areas or assets include designated 
heritage assets, special areas of conservation (SACs), Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSIs) and areas at flood risks. It is these considerations that are 
examined first to establish which criterion of paragraph 11 of the NPPF is 
applicable. 

Impact on heritage assets

11.12 Policies S2, S5 and S27 of the Allerdale Local Plan seeks to ensure that proposals 

Page 47



do not adversely affect heritage assets and their setting. Policy S6(c) makes 
specific reference to the need to conserve and enhance historic assets within 
Cockermouth and the wider locality. The policies are used to inform the 
assessment against the duties contained within sections 66 and 72 of the Listed 
Buildings Act. The protected assets that are relevant are:-

 Scheduled Monument  - Romano-British farmstead in Fitz Woods1 
 The Fitz listed building.
 Papcastle Conservation Area.

Archaeology

11.13 The Romano-British farmstead is located in Fitz Woods to the south of the site. It 
is described in the List Entry Description as one of a distinctive type of native 
settlements dating to the Roman period.  Despite the slight reduction in the 
monument's defensive earthworks on the western side, the farmstead survives 
reasonably well and is a good example of this class of monument. The List Entry 
Description advises that it will facilitate any further study of Romano-British 
settlement patterns in the area.

11.14 The development does not have any direct, intrusive impact on the Monument. 
The development of the A66, the Laureates, the Parklands and the Fitz has 
changed the setting over the past 200 years. The containment by the remaining 
woodland is not altered and the harm is considered negligible. 

11.15 Notwithstanding this matter, it is acknowledged that the site lies within an area of 
known high archaeological potential with, not only the Scheduled Ancient 
Monument to the south, but also widespread remains of a Roman settlement in 
and around the village of Papcastle to the north and prehistoric finds from the early 
Neolithic period on the adjacent site to the west. Therefore, an Archaeological 
Evaluation and Excavation Assessment Report, to determine the 
presence/absence of archaeological features within the site, has been submitted 
with the application.

11.16 Given that the site has already been subject to an archaeological investigation that 
recorded the archaeological assets that will be disturbed by the proposed 
development, the Cumbria County Council Historic Environment Officer have 
assessed the findings and raise no objections to the proposal. 

Listed Buildings

11.17 The application site comprises land that forms part of the grounds/parkland 
associated with The Fitz, which is a Grade 2 listed Georgian mansion house 
dating from the 19th Century. The parkland is not included within the Historic 
England’s ‘Register of Historic Parks and Gardens of special historic interest in 
England’. Notwithstanding this, it forms an integral element of the setting of the 

1 List Entry Number: 1014587 

Page 48



mansion house.

11.18 Applying Historic England’s guidance on the assessment of setting2, it is clear that 
a proportion of the significance of the Fitz as a heritage asset is derived from its 
setting, albeit much is also derived from its history (the Senhouse family) and 
architecture (a Georgian house retaining many original features). 

11.19 Therefore, changes to the setting have the potential to result in substantial harm to 
the significance of this asset.

11.20 Both the physical and functional setting of the Fitz are considered. 

11.21 Functionally, it is noted that the 1898 map3 appears to include all of the site within 
the formal parkland of the Fitz. This assumption is based on the shaded coverage 
of this map and cross referencing to the map’s key. This area extended to Low 
Road in the north, the arc of mature trees (Fitz Wood) that survives to the south, 
the extent of the Laureates housing development to the west and the border of 
what is now the Parklands to the east. 

11.22 The use of the majority of this area is still as parkland in the same ownership of 
the Fitz with the land used for grazing of livestock amongst the parkland trees, 
very much as per the 1898 position. The exception is the application site, albeit to 
two different extents.

11.23 The area already benefitting from permission has been raised and is no longer 
characterised or used as parkland; the surface has little grass or trees. The 
permitted housing, with the permission alive for perpetuity, means that the 
baseline position of assessment is already one of irrevocable change from that of 
the parkland function. As such the functional setting of the Fitz derived from this 
part of the application site is preserved.

11.24 The currently undeveloped area of the site is still used for grazing and has been 
described by some consultees as remaining part of the functional parkland setting 
to the Fitz. This is a matter of fact and degree; it was part of the functional setting 
of the Fitz but has clearly been separated from the open parkland to the east (to 
the front of the Fitz) by stock fencing and a hedge. It is also not characterised by 
the parkland trees that typify the area to the east. It is also noted that all of this 
area is subject to the live permission for the change of levels which would result in 
a similar character and use to the land already raised. As such it is considered that 
the development of the application site would preserve the functional setting of the 
Fitz. The harm would be less than substantial.

11.25 Turning to the physical setting, the impact has been assessed in three ways:-

 The experience of the Fitz from the site.
 The experience from the Fitz. 

2 Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning: 3 (2nd Edition) Published 22 December 2017
3 Cumberland LIV.NE (includes: Bridekirk; Brigham; Cockermouth; Dean; Papcastle.)
Revised: 1898

Page 49



 The experience of the Fitz from visual receptors beyond the site, such as from 
Low Road and Papcastle. 

11.26 Only parts of the house can be seen from the application site. This is due to the 
mesh of tree branches closer to the site, the density of which provides screening in 
winter as well as summer. 

11.27 There is a similar experience from Low Road and the adjoining footway where 
they abut the site. It is not until one travels further east that the views afforded to 
the Fitz across the retained parkland are fully revealed. Furthermore, the already 
permitted land level increase and change in character of the land mean the 
experience has already changed where this work has been completed and will 
change where it is still outstanding. Such changes restrict the parts of the Fitz 
visible from the footway and road by the site to the upper floor. It also results in the 
engineered land in the foreground, devoid of parkland character, being dominant 
in the experience from these receptors.

11.28 It is considered that there will be a change when one is further east on Low Road 
or the footway looking back south-westward towards the site. Here the vista 
includes the Fitz through the parkland, the Laureates and existing permitted 
dwellings are more distant as is the permitted increase in ground levels. The 
proposed extension of dwellings further eastwards has the potential to result in 
substantial harm to the setting of the Fitz. The consideration of some reserved 
matters at this stage provides assurances to officers, to some degree, that the 
specific development proposed will not result in such harm. Of note is the low 
density, subservient scale and detailing of the dwellings, traditional forms and 
balance between the natural and built environment. The pushing back of the 
detailed plots has a negligible impact in the officer’s opinion. A border belt of 
landscaping is still required, as was the officer’s opinion for the last application, to 
further soften the impact of the development and provide an appropriate transition 
between the parkland and the housing. This is shown on the proposed plan 
M3046-PA-01-V04 which includes beech within the proposed planting which does 
not shed its leaves and provides year-round dense cover. Whilst its future 
retention and maintenance can be secured by a s106 agreement the planting as 
shown has been implemented in full. The same would apply for common areas 
and facilities together with the foul and surface water drainage infrastructure within 
the site, all to be maintained by a management company.

11.29 Turning to more distant receptors, it is noted that the tree belt along the former 
railway line partially obscures the application site from receptors in Papcastle to 
the north. The Fitz and retained parkland further east is also visible. However, as 
will be explained in the next section (impact on the Papcastle Conservation Area), 
the experience is already diluted by the existence of the Lakes Homecentre and 
other development further east on Low Road. It is noted that part of the land north 
of Low Road is allocated for employment land (directly adjacent to the Lakes 
Homecentre) and there is also a live appeal for a larger site extending further west 
that would result in much tree loss and the opening up of views. However, no 
planning permission exists at the time of writing and, even if it did and was 
implemented, the resultant new buildings and landscaping would screen the 
application site from view and, as a result, the proposal would not impact 

Page 50



significantly on the experience of the Fitz from this receptor. 

11.30 With regards to the experience from the Fitz, officers assessed the impact from 
ground and first floor windows and from the driveway to the front of the house. The 
site is visible from the first floor windows and the north-western area of the 
driveway, albeit all views are through the mesh of aforementioned tree branches. 
Nevertheless, despite this partial screening, the border belt of landscaping recently 
planted is necessary next to the new housing. When mature this will considerably 
reduce the intervisibility between the new houses and The Fitz and this would 
reduce the impact of the proposed houses on the setting of the Fitz. The planting 
of the trees will limit the size of the parkland setting of The Fitz that can be seen in 
conjunction with the houses (particularly in summer), regardless of whether new 
houses are built, so if the trees survive and prosper, this increased segregation will 
happen anyway.  

11.31 It is also considered necessary to restrict permitted development rights for plots 2 
to 6 as uncontrolled development within these plots has a high degree of potential 
to adversely change the experience from the Fitz, the potential level of harm being 
substantial. Officers consider that the revised siting of these plots has negligible 
impact on the potential to leave the plots unencumbered by this condition. It is still 
necessary. 

Conservation Area 

11.32 The significance of Papcastle Conservation Area is derived from many qualities, 
including being the site and setting of the Roman Fort, its topography, its 
orientation and setting in the wider landscape, the narrow historic streets and their 
organic layout. Its setting on the south facing slope allows views from public areas 
and gardens over the field and woodland of the river valley below, including The 
Fitz and its parkland. This setting does contribute to the overall character and 
appearance of the area. The new houses will be visible from the Conservation 
Area and therefore have an impact upon its setting that could represent some 
harm. However this is not an unspoilt view, as already advised in the preceding 
section. 

Conclusions on impact on heritage assets

11.33 Officers consider the public benefits may be considered as anything that delivers 
economic, social or environmental progress as described in paragraph 8 of the 
NPPF. The open-market and affordable housing proposed, the contribution to 
upgrade/provide play equipment on the adjacent laureates site and the economic 
benefit of constructing the dwellings are benefits that outweighs the cumulative, 
less than substantial harm to the identified heritage assets. 

Special Area of Conservation and Site of Special Scientific Interest 

11.34 There are two statutory designated sites within 2km of the site, the River Derwent 
and Tributaries Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and the River Derwent 
and Bassenthwaite Lake Special Area of Conservation (SAC). The application site 
falls within the Impact Risk Zone (IRZ) of both designations, the siting within the 

Page 51



SAC IRZ necessitating the screening of the application under the Habitat 
Regulations. 

11.35 The watercourse to the west of the site is a minor tributary of the River Derwent 
and, therefore, there is a hydrological link between the site and the SSSI/SAC. 
The potential risks are presented at both the construction (e.g. potential increases 
in sediment load or a discharge of contaminants) and operational stages (e.g. 
increase in volume/contamination of surface water run-off) that could potentially 
reduce the water quality of these protected sites.

11.36 Based on the information submitted, Natural England has concluded that the 
proposed development is unlikely to have a significant effect on the SAC or 
damage or destroy the interest features of the SSSI subject to mitigation measures 
been implemented. In light of the Court of Justice of the European Union (CJEU) 
judgement in the matter of People Over Wind and Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta 
(C-323/17), mitigation could not be considered when screening the application 
under the Habitat Regulations. An Appropriate Assessment was therefore 
undertaken echoing the Natural England conclusions. Therefore officers 
recommend that impact on the SAC and/or the SSSI are not reasons for refusal 
and Construction Environment Management Plan can be secured via condition. 

Other ecological considerations

11.37 Policies S2, S35 and S36 seek to promote sustainable development whilst 
protecting and enhancing biodiversity assets and water quality within the Plan 
area.

11.38 The applicant has submitted a Phase 1 Ecological Habitat Survey that concludes 
the site is of negligible ecological importance as it constitutes a species-poor 
agricultural sward. Notwithstanding this, the hedgerows and trees along the 
northern and eastern boundaries are considered to have potential as bat 
commuting and foraging areas. Those mature trees within the site do possess the 
preferred characteristics for bat roost; however the arborcultural report confirms 
that no trees are to be felled. 

11.39 The site will be accessed from a new road on to Low Road. To allow for the 
necessary sightlines along Low Road there is a necessity to remove sections of 
hedgerow and a line of trees. The mature TPO trees in the roadside hedge will not 
be affected. The loss of these sections of hedgerow and line of trees will have an 
adverse ecological impact on the local (Fitz Park) scale due to the potential of 
connectivity for bats using them as flight lines. However, the bat flight line 
connectivity along Low Road is maintained on the northern side of the road.

11.40 The report highlights replacement/realignment of hedgerows throughout the site. 
There will be a net increase in hedgerow but, in the short term (0-5 years), whilst 
the hedgerows are maturing, there will be a minor adverse ecological impact at the 
local scale. However, once the hedgerows have started to mature, connectivity 
along the bat flight lines will be restored and, in the long term, there will be 
increased bat flight line interconnectivity and increased lengths of potential 
foraging habitat resulting in an overall positive ecological impact on bats at the 

Page 52



local scale.

11.41 In relation to the impact on the protected species identified as being potentially 
affected by the proposed development, officers have considered the standing 
advice and consider the proposed development would not cause significant harm 
to these species in terms roosting, foraging or commuting.

11.42 In terms of impact on biodiversity the proposal is considered to provide some 
enhancement and complies with policies S2, S35 and S36.

Flood Risk

11.43 Policy S2 and S29 of the local plan seek to minimise the risk to people and 
property as a result of flooding and ensure that development would not increase 
the risk of flooding elsewhere. Similarly, paragraph 155 of the NPPF directs 
development away from areas of highest risk through the implementation of the 
sequential test. Where development is necessary, a Flood Risk Assessment is 
required to ensure that the development is safe, without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere.  

11.44 The application site lies currently within Flood Zone 2 on the Environment Agency 
Flood Risk maps. Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) classifies residential 
development as a ‘more vulnerable’ use and sequentially land in flood zone 1 
should be developed first. However, it is noted that:-

 Flood Zone 2 is considered to be appropriate for more vulnerable uses as 
clarified in Table 3 referred to in the NPPG.4 

 There is the permitted land level raise which has already been part 
implemented. This takes the land into Flood Zone 1.

11.45 The development passes the sequential test.

11.46 The application has submitted a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) which identifies 
substantial mitigation measures that would minimise the risk of flooding to the 
proposed development. This involves the aforementioned level changes 
whereupon housing will be located in Flood Zone 1 and providing compensatory 
flood storage by excavating a section of land within the Parkland to the front of 
The Fitz. 

11.47 It is necessary to secure the delivery of the remaining works outside of the 
application site through a s106 obligation. 

Surface Water Drainage

11.48 The Lead Local Flood Authority have expressed a preference for SuDS utilising 

4 Paragraph: 067 Reference ID: 7-067-20140306 Revision date: 06 03 2014

Page 53



infiltration with surface features to deal with exceedance events. Site 
investigations indicate infiltration will work; thus the raising of site levels will need 
to be in free draining material suitably compacted and subject to second infiltration 
tests in soakaway positions. The material extracted from the parkland appears to 
have the appropriate infiltration qualities. 

11.49 Under normal conditions it is proposed to discharge surface water to the unnamed 
watercourse to the west of the site. Existing greenfield run-off rates have been 
established and the estimated rates from the proposed development calculated, 
based on the net developable area. The FRA confirms a strategy to ensure 
surface water is managed and controlled on-site and includes attenuation that 
would reduce the immediate peak flow loadings.

11.50 United Utilities and the Local lead Flood Authority raise no objections to the 
proposal subject to conditions. Officers are satisfied that an appropriate drainage 
scheme in line with the hierarchy of drainage options can be achieved on site. The 
flood risk mitigation proposed would ensure that the risk to people and property 
was minimised and therefore complies with the requirements of Policy S29 and the 
NPPF. 

Application of tilted balance 

11.51 It is clear, from the above assessments, that it is the tilted balance that would 
apply; there are no reasons as to why criterion (i) of paragraph 11 of the NPPF 
would be engaged. 

11.52 The provision of 27 dwellings, including the provision of 10 affordable units on site, 
is deemed to be a material benefit afforded significant weight. As cited above, 
such housing needs to come forward in this medium term of the Local Plan period 
to ensure that the Council’s housing strategy detailed in the Plan is fulfilled. There 
are specifc benefits attributed to the proportion of affordable homes. The report 
has already demonstrated that there would be no signficant and demonstrable 
adverse impacts arising from heritage asset, ecology and flood risk considerations. 

11.53 However, there are other matters to consider when applying the tilted balance.

Previoulsy developed land 

11.54 Where available and, if appropriate, the Council will also encourage and prioritise 
the effective reuse of previously developed land and buildings or vacant and 
underused land, as identified by policies S30 and DM16. The latter specifies a 
sequential test for residential development in excess of 7 dwellings in Key Service 
Centres to demonstrate that there are no suitable alternative, previously 
developed sites. Through previous extant permissions within the town it has been 
established that the available brownfield sites within the town have already been 
developed resulting in the most recent housing approvals being on greenfield 
sites.

Page 54



Housing mix and density

11.55 Policy S7 seeks to promote sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities by 
ensuring that all new residential development contributes to improving the balance 
of housing and meets the identified needs of the whole community. Policies S2 
and S4 seeks to optimise the potential of sites by ensuring appropriate density and 
efficient use of the land. Policy DM14 states that housing density will be 
considered on a site by site basis and informed by local context of the area in 
terms of design considerations, historic or environmental integration, or identified 
local need. 

11.56 The proposed development entails the accommodation of 27 no. dwellings on the 
site. The design details for plots 2-6 inclusively are to be considered for approval 
at this stage with the remainder of the site to be dealt with at reserved matters. 
However, the indicative layout plan illustrates a mixed development. 

11.57 Supporting text to Policy S7 (Paragraph 129) states that it is important that homes 
are provided to meet the aspirations of local people and to attract new people to 
live in the area in order to support economic objectives. It also states that the 
housing needs of different types of households should be fulfilled by providing the 
right types of mix of housing.

11.58 The detailed plots 2-6 include larger 2 storey dwellings that provide 5 bed units. 
These dwellings all have garages with large gardens areas surrounding the 
properties. The design of the dwellings match those approved along the eastern 
boundary of application 2/2017/0316 (Reserved Matters). The dwellings have 
been designed so the rear and front elevations both have a high level of design 
and detailing. Given the relative low density of this part of the development and the 
siting of the dwellings forward within the plots it assists in retaining some views 
over to the Listed Fitz to the southeast of the site. 

11.59 The indicative plan for the wider site illustrates a higher density development 
which would provide a mix of smaller units. 

11.60 The NPPF stresses the importance of providing choice in housing developments 
being brought forward and officers acknowledge that it is important to meet 
demand in the different sectors of the housing market. Officers consider an 
appropriate level of housing mix can be achieved on this site in line with Policy S7.

11.61 While national policy no longer requires a minimum density of housing 
development, a key objective of the Council is to ensure effective and efficient use 
of land. Whilst the proposed development does not represent the most efficient 
use of the site, as sought by Policies S2 and S4, policy DM14 does allow density 
to be influenced by identified local housing need. Taking account of the already 
consented approval of 8 dwellings per hectare and the location of the proposal, it 
is considered that a lower density development is appropriate on this site. 

Sustainable access

11.62 Policies S2 and S22 seek to ensure that new development is located in areas that 

Page 55



help to reduce journey times, have safe and convenient access to public transport, 
improve travel choice and reduce the need to travel by private motor vehicles. 
These policies accord with paragraph 108 of the NPPF which seek to ensure 
sustainable transport modes are maximised and development is safe and 
accessible. Policy S5 requires that new development includes acceptable 
arrangements for car parking and access.

11.63 The site is located on a strategic road/bus route. For walkers, the site can be 
accessed on foot directly from the existing, lit, cycleway/footway to the front of the 
development and linking to the town centre. It is also located adjacent to an 
existing bus corridor served by some of the X5 and X4 services. There is a bus 
stop on the northern side of the road directly opposite The Laureates. 

Highway safety and vehicular access

11.64 The means of access into the site is to be considered as part of this outline 
application. A Transport Statement and Stage 1 Road Safety Audit (junction only) 
has been undertaken and submitted with the application. 

11.65 The proposed access takes the form of a simple priority junction onto Low Road 
and lies approximately 250m to the east of the access road to the adjacent 
Laureates residential development. Low Road at this point is subject to a 40mph 
speed limit which commences (for westbound traffic) about 300m to the east.  

11.66 The Highways Authority consider the submitted documents clearly show that the 
application can be accommodated on the local highway network. Therefore they 
raise no objections to the application subject to conditions.

Landscape and Visual Effects

11.67 Policies S2, S32 and S33 all seek to protect, conserve and wherever possible, 
enhance the landscape character and preserve visual amenity. Policies S4, S5 
and DM14 seek to ensure, amongst other matters, that new development is of a 
high quality design, of appropriate scale and appearance and responds positively 
to the character, history and distinctiveness of the locality. Policy S5 seeks to 
ensure that new development is of a scale and design which will not detract from 
the character of the settlement; that the site of the proposed development is not 
considered to have significant amenity value and the site is not considered to 
make a significant contribution to the character of the settlement in its 
undeveloped state. 

11.68 It is acknowledged that these considerations are inextricably intertwined with 
heritage considerations in this instance. 

11.69 A Landscape Visual Appraisal (LVA) has been submitted with the application. 
Given that the most western part of the site has consent for 16 houses the LVA 
predominately considers the additional impact from the development of the 
adjacent field for an additional 11 dwellings and the access of Low Road.

11.70 Officers concur with the findings of the LVA. Referring to the Cumbria Landscape 

Page 56



Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLCGT) the application site lies within 
Landscape Type 8: Main Valleys and within Sub-Type 8b: Broad Valleys – 
associated with the River Derwent and its corridor. The key characteristics of this 
landscape are improved pasture land, stone walls and hedgerows defining field 
boundaries, pockets of woodland and road and railway lines that follow valley 
contours.

11.71 However, as already assessed in this report, there is a strong urban influence on 
the immediate landscape. There are a number of urbanising features. These 
include the areas of the Laureates already completed as well Parklands Drive and 
the Lakes Home Centre. 

11.72 As the proposed development would not require the removal of any primary 
landscape features and new hedgerow and tree planting is proposed, the overall 
magnitude of effect on the landscape features would be low.  

11.73 The LVA identified a number of visual receptors including points within Papcastle, 
from the Fitz itself, the footway alongside Low Road, Parklands Drive and Low 
Road. All but Parklands Drive have already been identified in this report as 
potentially sensitive receptors when assessing the experience of heritage assets. 
The LVA identifies these receptors as having medium to high levels of sensitivity 
(Low Road being low to medium). Officers concur with this assessment and that, 
for the reasons already cited in this report, the impacts are of minor to moderate 
adverse at most.

11.74 As also already described, the mitigation proposed in terms of landscaping will 
reduce the impact to an acceptable level. The same conclusions apply for the 
impact on receptors on Parklands Drive.

11.75 In summary, whilst officers acknowledge that there would be landscape effects as 
a result of the proposal, these would be highly localised. Wider landscape effects 
are not considered to be significant given the presence of urban development 
within the locality which serves to neutralise the effect on the landscape and the 
level of existing and proposed screening surrounding the site, which serves to 
visually contain it. Therefore the proposed development, with appropriate 
landscaping, can be assimilated satisfactorily and an unacceptable landscape 
harm will not arise.

11.76 Officers acknowledge that there would be visual effects as a result of the proposed 
development as a whole but are satisfied that, with appropriate landscaping, the 
degree of visual effect could be moderated to an extent that prevented it from 
being perceived as significantly harmful.

11.77 The relationship between the development on the adjacent site (The Laureates) 
must also be considered. The levels of this site have also been raised by a similar 
height to that suggested within the proposed development. Therefore the 
proposed development would not appear as a development on a raised platform of 
land and thus out of context in terms of visual appearance. 

Affordable housing 

Page 57



11.78 Policy S8 of the Allerdale Local seeks to maximise the delivery of affordable 
housing across the Plan Area. It requires sites over 10 dwellings to deliver 40% 
affordable housing within Cockermouth and also states it is to be provided on-site, 
apart from in exceptional circumstances. The area-based policy for Cockermouth, 
S6(c), makes specific reference to the priority of delivering affordable housing in 
the town and its wider locality.

11.79 As the proposed development is for 27 dwellings, policy S8 is engaged. The 
applicant acknowledges this policy requirement and the draft heads of terms 
includes the provision of 10 affordable dwellings. The size, type and tenure of the 
affordable housing units together with the phasing of their delivery can be 
determined at reserved matters stage although it is accepted that this is likely to 
exclude plots 2 to 6. The provision of these and their affordability in perpetuity 
would be secured by a Section 106 agreement.

Facilities for children and young people

11.80 In line with the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document the applicant is 
proposing to provide a financial contribution to the upgrade of existing off-site 
provision for children and young people. Given the proximity of the site to the 
adjacent Laureates site this is considered appropriate. The formula is No. units x 
1.34m2 x £120 = £4, 431.60 for 27 dwellings. The Heads of terms includes a fall-
back position that if the owners of the Laureates estate are not agreeable to 
accept the financial contribution a play area will be constructed on the application 
site.  

Geotechnical and Contamination Risk 

11.81 Policies S2, S30 and S36 of the Allerdale Local Plan seeks to ensure that 
proposals to develop land that is potentially contaminated and/or unstable are 
subject to appropriate assessment and where necessary, remediation works. The 
protection of water and soil quality from pollution and contamination is also a key 
policy objective.

11.82 The Council’s Environmental Protection team have assessed the proposal and 
raises no objections to the proposed development subject to the imposition of pre-
commencement conditions relating to the implementation of Ground Investigation 
works. On this basis, officers consider that the proposed development complies 
with the requirements of Policies S2, S35 and S36.

Other matters 

11.83 Within their submitted draft heads of terms the applicant has also proposed to 
enter an agreement with the Highways Authority to secure the missing section of 
cycleway to the front of the Wastewater Treatment Works travelling west to the 
roundabout and for it to be in operation prior to the first dwelling being occupied. 
Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2011 is echoed by 
paragraph 56 of the NPPF which details that planning obligations must only be 
sought where they meet all of the following tests:

Page 58



a) Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
b) Directly related to the development; and
c) Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

11.84 The section of land where the cycleway is proposed lies approximately 250m west 
of the application site. Given the separation distance from the site and that the site 
has existing good connectivity with the town in both terms of cycleway/footpath 
links, it is considered that the implementation of this proposed cycleway would not 
meet the tests detailed above. For this reason it is considered that no weight can 
be provided to the implementation of the cycleway when considering the proposed 
development for 27 dwellings. 

11.85 With the exception of the cycleway works it is considered that all other matters are 
necessary and relate to the proposed development and therefore are considered 
appropriate measures to make the development acceptable through the inclusion 
of a S106 agreement. 

Local Financial Considerations

11.86 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will 
have financial implications arising from New Homes Bonus and Council Tax 
Revenue. 

12.0 Conclusions

12.1 Having regard to the relevant policies of the Local Plan Part 1, and advice 
contained within the NPPF, the proposal is considered to be acceptable, subject 
to conditions and the signing of a S106 agreement. The benefits of the 
development which include the provision of open market dwellings and 10 
affordable dwelling, a financial contribution to upgrade the play equipment on 
adjacent Laureattes housing estate, the completion of the flood resilience works 
and the minor economical benefits to jobs through the construction of the 
dwellings outweigh the impacts which are neither significant nor demonstrable. 

RECOMMENDATION

THAT THE DECISION TO GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS BE 
DELEGATED TO THE PLANNING AND BUILING CONTROL MANAGER UPON THE 
COMPLETION OF A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT THAT SECURES:

 COMPLETION OF LAND LEVELS CHANGES PERMITTED BY PERMISSION 
2/2017/0312.

 PROVISION AND FUTURE MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE OF 
LANDSCAPING BELT DIRECTLY EAST OF PLOTS 2-6 AND COMMON 
AREAS AND DRAINAGE INFRASTRUCTURE WITHIN THE SITE.

 10 AFFORDABLE HOUSING UNITS ON SITE

Page 59



 £4, 431.60 TO UPGRADE EXISTING FACILITIES FOR CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE AT THE LAUREATES

Page 60



Annex 1

CONDITIONS

Reserved matters submission

1. Approval of details of the landscaping of Plots 2 to 6 (thereafter called the 
‘reserved matters’) shall be obtained in writing from the Local Planning 
Authority before the development is commenced.

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to assess all the details of the 
development.

2. Approval of details of the layout, scale and appearance of the building(s) 
and the landscaping (excluding plots 2 to 6) for the site (thereafter called 
the ‘reserved matters’) shall be obtained in writing from the Local Planning 
Authority before the development is commenced.

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to assess all the details of the 
development.

3.   The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no later 
than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this permission 
and the development shall begin no later  than whichever is the later of the 
following dates:
(a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this 
permission, or 
(b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved 
matters or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of 
the last such matter to be approved.

      Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

4. The layout Reserved Matters Application(s) for the site excluding plots 2 to 
6 shall include details showing the provision within each plot for the 
parking of vehicles commensurate with the Cumbria Parking Standards. No 
dwelling shall be occupied until the approved facilities for that dwelling are 
fully constructed. These approved facilities shall be retained and capable of 
use when the development is completed and shall not be removed or 
altered without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that proper access and parking provision is made and 
retained for use in relation with the development.

Accordance with plans
 

5. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following plans:
14/11/848-01 Site Location Plan 

Page 61



14/11/848 – 105 Site Plan Plots 2-6
14/11/848 – 05 Dwelling Type A & A/1 – Floor Plans
14/11/848 - 06 Dwelling Type A - Elevations 
14/11/848 – 07 Dwelling Type A/1 - Elevations 
14/11/848 – 103a) Enlarged Visibility Splay Plan 
M3046-PA-02-V03 Landscape Layout Plots 2 to 6
Email 30/07/2019 – amended description
Archaeological Evaluation and Excavation Report
Flood Risk Assessment
Phase 1 Ecological Habitat Survey
Assessment of Likely Significant Effects
Heritage Statement 
Landscape and Visual Appraisal 
Road Safety Audit
Transport Statement

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

Pre-commencement

6.           The development shall not commence until visibility splays providing clear 
visibility of 2.4 metres by 120 metres in both directions measured down the 
centre of the access road and the nearside channel line of the major road 
(Low Road) have been provided at the junction of the access road with the 
county highway. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no 
structure, or object of any kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, 
bushes or other plants which exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be 
permitted to grow within the visibility splay which obstruct the visibility 
splays.

Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

7. The carriageway, footways and footpaths, cycleways etc. shall be 
designed, constructed, drained and lit to the satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority and, in this respect full engineering details shall be 
submitted with the first layout Reserved Matters Application. No work shall 
be commenced until a full specification has been approved. These details 
shall be in accordance with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria 
Design Guide. Any works so approved shall be constructed before the 
development is complete. 

Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction within the approved 
development in the interests of highway safety.

Page 62



8. No development approved by this permission shall commence until a 
desktop study has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Should the preliminary risk assessment identify any potential 
contamination which may affect human health, controlled waters or the 
wider environment, all necessary site investigation works within the site 
boundary must be carried out to establish the degree and nature of the 
contamination and its potential to pollute the environment or cause harm to 
human health. The scope of works for the site investigations should be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to their commencement.

Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

9. Should land affected by contamination be identified under the desktop 
study condition 8 following site investigations which poses unacceptable 
risks to human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, no 
development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme must include an appraisal of remediation options, identification of 
the preferred option(s), the proposed remediation objectives and 
remediation criteria, and a description and programme of the works to be 
undertaken including the verification plan.

Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

10. No development shall take place until a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to through 
the construction period. The plan shall include the following:

a) Traffic Management Plan to include:
i.Reserving adequate land for site offices/stores, secure compounds, 

including adequate land for parking/turning of vehicles/plant, 
engaged in the construction operations associated with the 
development hereby approved. Such land, including the vehicular 
access thereto, shall be used for or kept available for these 
purposes at all times until the completion of the construction 
works.

ii.All traffic associated with the development, including site and staff 
traffic.

iii.The loading and unloading of plant and materials.
iv.The storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 

development.
v.Wheel washing facilities.

Page 63



vi.The management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway 
and other public rights of way/footway.

vii.Highway signage/ Haulage routes;

b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of 
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, 
deliveries. All measurements should make reference to BS7445.

c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential properties 
from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, and light 
pollution.

d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction;

e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction 
and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities);

f) pollution prevented measures to ensure that no polluted run-off or 
materials enter the watercourse and that dust is surpassed.

g) Programme of work for Construction phase;
h) Hours of working and deliveries;
i) Details of lighting to be used on site;
j) Mitigation measures to ensure no harm is caused to protected species 

during construction.

Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the development hereby 
approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy 
S32 and S36 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the 
interests of highway safety.

11. No development shall commence until details of the means of ensuring 
water and wastewater infrastructure that is laid within and adjacent to the 
site boundary is protected from damage as a result of the development 
have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in 
writing. The details shall outline the potential impacts on the water and 
wastewater infrastructure from all construction activities and the impacts 
post completion of the development on the water and wastewater 
infrastructure within and adjacent to the site and identify mitigation 
measures to protect and prevent any damage to the water and wastewater 
infrastructure. Any mitigation measures shall be implemented in full 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interest of public health and to ensure protection of public water 
supply and wastewater infrastructure. 

Before developments first use

12. Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 9, the approved 
strategy shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and 

Page 64



approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the 
development (or relevant phase of development) being brought into use.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Other 

13. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the 
part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out 
and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These shall be implemented prior to the development (or 
relevant phase of development) being brought into use. All works shall be 
undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014.

14. The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in 
accordance with the principles set out in the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment, ref: D/I/D/87883/003 Final, dated October 2018, proposing 
surface water discharging into watercourse. No surface water will be 
permitted to drain directly or indirectly into the public sewer. Aby variation 
to the discharge of foul shall be agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
the development. The development shall be completed in accordance with 
the approved details. 

Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 and S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

15. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable means of drainage from the site and minimise 
the risk of water pollution to the local water environment, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

16. The works shall be implemented solely in accordance with the mitigation 
strategy outlined in the Phase 1 Ecological Habitat Survey dated 6 March 
2019. 

Page 65



Reason:  To safeguard the habitat of bats in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

17. No part of the development on plots 2 to 6 hereby approved shall be 
constructed above ground floor level until details of all external and roofing 
materials have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Only the materials so approved shall be used in the development 
as approved.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with the character of 
the surrounding area and will not impact on the setting of The Fitz and its 
parkland, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy 
S27 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

18. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Statutory Instrument revoking 
or re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no development 
falling within Class(es) A, B, C, D, E and G of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the 
said Order shall be carried out without the prior written permission of the 
Local Planning Authority upon an application submitted to it. 

Reason: The Local Planning Authority wishes to retain control over any proposed 
alterations/extensions in the interests of the appearance of the site and 
safeguard the setting of The Fitz and its parkland.

 
Advisory Note 

A 21'' trunk main borders the site. United Utilities require unrestricted access for 
operating and maintaining it, and will not permit development over or in close 
proximity to the main. They require an access strip as detailed in United Utilities 
‘Standard Conditions for Works Adjacent to Pipelines’.

Page 66



P
age 67



P
age 68



Allerdale Borough Council

Planning Application FUL/2019/0160

Development Panel Report

Reference Number: FUL/2019/0160
Valid Date: 25/06/2019
Location: Verona Blitterlees Wigton
Applicant: Mr Steve Clark 
Proposal: Application for construction of 5no. detached 

bungalows

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 

1.0 Summary

Issue Conclusion

Principle of Development Extant planning permission exists for the 
site for five dwellings (ref. 2/2016/0727). 
Therefore, the principle of the 
development has already been accepted 
under the current Development Plan. 

Blitterlees is a Limited Growth Village as 
defined in Policy S3 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan, (Part 1) and Limited Growth Villages 
are identified as suitable for small-scale 
development, in order to contribute 
approx. 6% of the overall housing supply 
for the Borough. The proposal is 
considered to be small scale, well related 
to the village, and of an appropriate 
density. 

The proposal would bring benefits 
principally arising from the provision of 
additional housing to meet the needs of 
the Borough, as anticipated in the 
settlement hierarchy. Some associated 
economic benefits would arise for the 
construction industry. Limited adverse 
impacts have been identified above and 
these adverse impacts would not 

Page 69

Agenda Item 7



significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits when assessed against the 
policies of the Framework, taken as a 
whole.  
 

Visual Impact The visual impacts of the development are 
considered to be acceptable. Blitterlees 
consists of a mix of house types and styles 
and the design of the single storey 
dwellings proposed is considered to be 
acceptable. 

Landscape Impact Given the large scale and wide open 
nature of this landscape subtype (coastal 
Plain), this small scale encroachment is 
considered to be acceptable. 

Residential Amenity An acceptable relationship with 
neighbouring properties is considered to 
be achieved. 

Ecology A survey has been provided which 
demonstrates that Great Crested Newts 
are unlikely to be affected by the proposal. 

Drainage Localised flooding issues with the beck 
and standing water have been highlighted 
by representations. However, subject to 
conditions, no concerns have been raised 
by the Environment Agency or United 
Utilities. 

The County Council as Local Lead Flood 
Authority has sought further information to 
substantiate local concerns. This has been 
received very late in the processing of the 
application and differs from their approach 
to the previous application that has been 
granted approval and is extant. Conditions 
are therefore proposed to secure the 
additional information requested through 
the requirement to provide a full surface 
water drainage scheme that considers 
overland flows from neighbouring land. A 
further condition is also recommended to 
require finished floor levels for the 
dwellings themselves, should the 
additional assessment indicate a risk to 
the proposal, despite their location within 

Page 70



Flood Zone 1. 

Trees/Hedgerows Following amended plans, no significant 
removal required. 

Affordable Housing No provision has been sought on the basis 
that the extant planning permission for the 
site (a material consideration and genuine 
fallback position) did not require and 
therefore secure an affordable housing 
contribution.  

2.0 Introduction

2.1 Whilst this application seeks full planning permission for the construction of five 
dwellings, the site already benefits from an extant (live) outline planning 
permission for the same number of dwellings at the same site. This earlier 
application was approved by members of the Development Panel in February 
2017 (2/2016/0727).

2.2 A subsequent reserved matters application was made in relation to this outline 
approval (RMA/2019/0003) but was subsequently withdrawn because the site 
area denoted by the red line for the application was larger than the original 
outline approval, and changes were sought to the proposed layout of the scheme 
from those originally considered and approved. 

2.3 To overcome these issues a full application has been submitted. As such, whilst 
a new application has been made, the extant outline permission for the same 
development is a material consideration that carries significant weight in the 
determination of this application. This is because both the earlier application and 
the current proposal will fall to be determined against the same relevant policies 
of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 2014 and this process has already determined 
the acceptability of the proposal in principle.   

3.0 Proposal

3.1 Full planning permission is sought for the construction of 5no. detached 
bungalows. 

3.2 The submitted plans indicates that the five dwellings would be provided in a 
linear form fronting the highway, the B5300. The proposed units would be single 
storey only. Each unit would have a front and rear garden with a private road 
running to the rear of the site, providing access to the individual plots. 

3.3 The access point is shown as the existing field access towards the northern 
boundary of the site. 

Page 71



3.4 The Plans for considertaion are:-

19.1952.1A Existing
19.1952.2A Proposed Site Plan
19.1952.3 Proposed Ground Plans
19.1952.4 Proposed Elevations
19.1952.5 Existing Site Plan
19.1952.6B Proposed Site Plan – Amended Plan received 1st August 2019. 
19.1952.7A Existing & Proposed Street Scene
19.1952.8 Proposed Ground V2
19.1952.9 Proposed Elevations V2
Site Location Plan

4.0 Site

4.1 The proposal relates to part of an agricultural field located to the north of the 
settlement of Blitterlees and to the east of the main road to Silloth (the B5300). 
The site extends to 0.66ha, is flat and used as grazing land.  To the front of the 
site with the highway there is a grass verge which varies in width, a beck which 
runs to the full frontage and to the southern boundary of the site, and a 
hedgerow. To the south a small cluster of trees separate the site from existing 
housing. Housing also exists opposite the site to the west. Land to the north and 
east is open, undeveloped fields, also consisting of flat, grazing land. 

5.0 Relevant Planning History

5.1 OUT/2016/0727 - Outline planning application for 5 no dwellings (with layout and 
scale to be considered at the outline stage). Approved 7th February 2017. 

5.2 RMA/2019/0003 - Reserved matters application for construction of 5no. detached 
bungalows with access, appearance and landscaping considered following 
outline approval 2/2016/0727. Withdrawn.

6.0 Representations

Silloth Town Council

6.1 No objection.

Holme Low Parish Council 

6.2 Objection on grounds of:

a) Access and visibility are not good along this stretch of road, particularly as 
there is a blind bend towards the Beckfoot end of the road which is a 

Page 72



concern. Visibility would need to be improved to ensure the safety of 
vehicles accessing the site. 

b) The land is unsuitable for building on as it is often under water during the 
wetter months of the year. After heavy rainfall the road often floods due to 
the beck overflowing. Parts of the beck have not been cleaned out in over 
40 years which contributes to the problem. 

c) Drainage is another concern. All of the houses are piped into the main 
sewer which is pumped to the Blitterlees pumping station and then to the 
Airfield which is already overloaded as it is, without additional demand on 
the system. 

ABC Environmental Health

6.3 No objection.

Cumbria County Highways/LLFA

6.4 Note that the site is shown as being in flood zone 1, with a low risk of flooding 
and minimal chance of infiltration resulting in overland flows to the watercourse. It 
is also noted that several of the locals have raised the fact that the site has been 
known to flood under conditions of heavy rain fall. This point needs to be 
investigated to establish what risk this could pose for the new houses. 

6.5 If this can be substantiated, then the surface water drainage for the site should 
be reassessed further. If not, then it is recommend that the application should be 
approved subject to the conditions being included in any notice of consent that 
include: Traffic Management Plan, highway construction and lighting details with 
timing of provision, and  a full scheme for surface water drainage. The latter shall 
include consideration of overland flow from the adjacent fields, together with an 
identified exceedance route, these need to be included in the sites drainage 
design. Road Safety Audits Stages 1 & 2 need to be submitted as part of the 
submission of details for conditions relating to road details.

 
Fire Officer 

6.6 No comments received. 

Environment Agency 

6.7 Blitterlees beck is a main river and any works within 8 metres of the main river 
may require the prior written consent of the Environment Agency. The grant of 
planning permission does not guarantee that an Environmental Permit will be 
given. 

Page 73



United Utilities 

6.8 No objection subject to conditions; that foul and surface water be drained on 
separate systems, submission of a surface water drainage scheme, and 
submission of a surface water drainage management and maintenance scheme. 

Cumbria Wildlife 

6.9 No comments received. 

Individual/Other representations

6.10 The application has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour 
letter. 

6.11 10 letters of representation have been received to date (up to 13th September 
2019), the comments are summarised as follows:

a) Reference to a number of inaccuracies and contentions to other 
commercial development in the submission documents. 

b) This is green belt/agricultural land, which should be retained as such.

c) Harm to the rural nature of the hamlet.

d) The Blitterlees River, known as the beck, runs parallel to the main road an
d serves as the village boundary. It often overflows during periods of heav
y rain. Existing drains are unable to cope with any overflow and  
lawn is frequently waterlogged throughout the winter. The bend in the oroa
d at Stanwix corner is often submerged under standing water after adelug
e of rain. How could any additional water output from five more    
houses be efficiently absorbed? Local people are very aware that the  
proposed building land is already very marshy and vulnerable to           
flooding.

e) The proposal for removal of excess surface water is by means of a 
soakaway. The water table at Blitterlees is extremely high. A soakaway 
would not be an effective means of water removal and could increase the 
existing potential for flooding. 

f) Genuine need? Number of unsold properties in the area. Harvest Park 
properties not selling. 

g) The beck is not maintained so beck bottom has risen and water is slow 
moving so that older land drains no longer work. Part of a wider network of 
drainage problems. 

h) Removal of hedges and trees will exacerbate the problem. 

Page 74



i) A response is required to the points raised by the County Council on the 
Reserved Matters application relating to technical drainage and access 
issues that need to be resolved. 

j) Blitterlees is a limited growth village. The plan states that, in limited growth 
villages, a limited level of development will be supported in order to help 
retain the vitality of these communities. Should this application be 
approved then this development of 5 houses, on top of the recent granting 
of a further development of 4 house in Blitterlees, would be a 18% 
increase on properties in Blitterlees, surely that contravenes that limited 
growth village definition of only allowing small scale development to take 
place. 

k) Blitterlees, as an area, is made up of a mix of traditional housing and 
cottages.  It is a shame that small villages like Blitterlees are likely to lose 
their individual character just to meet housing targets that don’t even apply 
to Blitterlees, turning them unnecessarily into suburbs of neighbouring 
settlements.

l) Proposed consistent and identical housing design does not reflect the 
diverse nature of Blitterlees. 

m) Attractive open views across the site to Lakeland Fells. 

n) Refuse collection will potentially cause a hazard. 

o) Development with restricted visibility on such a busy road would be 
reckless. 

7.0 Environmental Impact Assessment

7.1 With regards to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 the development does not within Schedule 1 nor 
2 and, as such, is not EIA development.

8.0 Duties

8.1 Regulation 9 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 
requires all public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats 
Directive in the exercise of their functions, particularly when determining a 
planning application for a development which may have an impact on European 
Protected Species ("EPS"), such as bats, great crested newts or otters.

Page 75



9.0 Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

9.1 Saved Settlement limits – The site is outside of the saved limits. 

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

9.2 The following policies are considered to apply:-

Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design 
Policy DM16 - Sequential Test for Previously Developed Land 
Policy DM17 - Trees, hedgerows and woodland 
Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles 
Policy S22 - Transport principles 
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth 
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity 
Policy S33 – Landscape
Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity 
Policy S4 - Design principles 
Policy S5 - Development Principles 
PolicyS7 - A mixed and balanced housing market 
Policy S8 - Affordable Housing

10.0 Other material considerations

Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) Submission Draft

10.1 The site is within the settlement limits.

National Planning Policy Framework (Feb 2019) 

10.2 Paragraph 213 advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 
vary according to their degree of consistency with the framework (the closer the 
policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that 
may be given).

10.3 Paragraph 11 (d) states that:

“where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless: i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect 
areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in 
this Framework taken as a whole.”

Page 76



Allerdale Council Plan 2019-2023

10.4 Tackling inequality - Helping to create more affordable housing where it is 
needed most across the Borough, for example through Community Land Trusts 
or using our own assets or land, and bringing empty properties into affordable

10.5 Strengthening our economy - Supporting the development of more homes where 
they are needed by    looking  for opportunities to develop key worker housing for 
the health and nuclear sectors; and aspirational housing where appropriate in 
line with our Local Plan.

11.0 Policy weighting

11.1 Notwithstanding any duties identified above, Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if regard is to be had to the 
development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the 
planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This means that the Allerdale 
Local Plan 1999 saved settlement limits and the Allerdale Borough Local Plan 
(Part 1) 2014 policies have primacy.

11.2 However, paragraph 212 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
2019 advises that the policies in that Framework are material considerations 
which should be taken into account in dealing with applications from the day of its 
publication. In this context it is noted that paragraph 213 of the NPPF 2019 
advises that due weight should be given to development plan policies according 
to their degree of consistency with the NPPF (the closer the policies in the plan to 
the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).

11.3 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF also advises that, where the development plan 
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, 
permission should be granted permission unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole (the tilted balance).

11.4 In this instance, policies within the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance are applicable to the determination of the application. The site lies 
within Flood Zone 2, it lies within close proximity to a designated SAC/SSSI and 
has the potential to impact on the setting of a listed building. For these reasons, 
policies within the NPPF relating to the consideration of these assets are 
relevant. 

11.5 A further material consideration is the appeal decision for land at Little Broughton 
(PINs ref APP/G0908/W/17/3183948) which specifically addressed the weighting 
afforded to development plan policies in the context of paragraphs 215 and 14 of 
the former NPPF.

Page 77



11.6 Whilst policies S3 and S5 are out of date in relation to the settlement limits, they 
are not considered to be out of date in all respects.  Nor does it mean that other 
Local Plan Part 1 policies are out of date and should not be afforded substantial 
or full weight where they are consistent with the provisions of the NPPF 2019. In 
this instance, it is assessed that the settlement hierarchy within policy S3 can be 
afforded substantial weight given its consistency with the sustainability principles 
of the NPPF 2019 as can the criteria a) to f) of policy S5. 

11.7 Weight can also be afforded to emerging plans, that weight dependent on the 
stage of preparation, the extent of unresolved objections and consistency with 
the provisions of the NPPF 2019. Draft Part 2 of the Local Plan has now been 
submitted to the Secretary of State for public examination by an Inspector, which 
has taken place although a decision is still awaited and therefore is at a relatively 
advanced stage. The northwestern part of the site that already has planning 
permission is to be included within the proposed revised settlement limit. Due to 
the extent of unresolved objections relating to the revised settlement boundaries 
(SA2) only limited weight, in this instance and at this time, is being given to the 
relevant Draft Part 2 policies relating to settlement limits.    

12.0 Assessment 

Principle of Development

12.1 Blitterlees is a Limited Growth Village as defined in Policy S3 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan, (Part 1) and new housing is restricted to small-scale development 
within the designated settlement boundary. Blitterlees, along with other Limited 
Growth Villages and Infill Rounding Off Villages, is proposed to accommodate 
6% of the 5,471 net additional dwellings identified by policy S3 over the plan 
period.  

12.3 Whilst the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 has progressed to the Submission Draft, 
representations received relating to the settlement boundaries mean that, at the 
present time, the proposed settlement boundary for Blitterlees can only carry 
limited weight. Furthermore, as per the policy weighting section of this report, the 
saved settlements also carry limited weight; in advance of the adoption of 
allocations in Part 2, housing needs to come forward beyond the 1999 limits to 
fulfil the medium term supply identified in the 2014 Local Plan. As such 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF is engaged. With no relevant protected areas or 
assets of particular importance being applicable, the tilted balance provided by 
criterion (ii) of paragraph 11 of the NPPF would apply. Applying this balance it is 
considered that there are benefits from the provision of the 5 houses and, as this 
report will demonstrate below, these are not significantly or demonstrably 
outweighed by adverse impacts.

12.3 The proposal site lies beyond, but adjacent to the settlement limit and is well 
related, having housing to the south and opposite. The layout plan indicates that 
the proposal would follow the linear form of development of the village along the 
B5300.  At five dwellings, the proposal is considered to a commensurately 
acceptable level of growth for the village.

12.4 There are no known brownfield sites within the settlement of Blitterlees and, 
therefore, the sequential testing requirements of policy DM16 are considered to 
be met. Whilst representations refer to the large brownfield site being developed 
at Harvest Park in Silloth (former Fison’s site), within the housing strategy and 
Policy S3, the rural villages including Blitterlees are intended to accommodate 

Page 78



additional small scale housing development to meet the overall need. Therefore, 
it is not considered appropriate to refuse this greenfield site on the basis that 
brownfield land exists at Silloth. This approach would not be consistent with the 
Allerdale Local Plan.  

12.5 The fall-back position of the extant permission must be afforded substantial 
weight.

Landscape and Visual Impact

12.6 The site does not fall within the Solway Coast Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONB). 

12.7 The site falls within Landscape Category 2c – Coastal Plain and the wider 
surroundings to the north and east are characterised by flat, coastal plain with 
large fields, intersected by shallow rivers and watercourses, with scarce field 
cover. Land to the west beyond the B5300 falls within Landscape Category 2d – 
Coastal Urban Fringe, also low lying flat land, with urban influences linked to 
tourism development, and transport routes. 

12.8 The proposal will extend the built form of the village into an undeveloped part of 
the coastal plain and will be seen within the context/backdrop of the existing 
village. Given the scale of this wide open and flat landscape, which extends 
considerably to the north and east of the site, this encroachment is not 
considered to have any significant impact on the wider landscape character and 
is therefore considered acceptable in regard to policy S33 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan Part 1.  

12.9 As discussed above, the proposal will follow the linear pattern of development of 
Blitterlees and the proposal is considered to be of a scale appropriate to the size 
of the settlement. Single storey development would fit with the character of the 
village, which is a mix of single and two storey development, traditional and 
modern. The density of the development is considered to reflect that of the 
village. 

12.10 Whilst the proposal will alter the open aspect of the site for visual receptors, the 
low density of development and the backdrop of the village to the south and east 
would ensure that the wider visual impacts of the development are acceptable. 
Adequate separation between the proposed units would allow views to be 
retained through the site.  

12.11 Amended plans have been provided to reduce the symmetry of design for the 
individual dwellings, following some concerns raised by objectors that five 
identical bungalows would not reflect the character of Blitterlees, which 
predominantly consists of a wide range and mix of housing styles. This variation 
in design has been secured through a wider mix and arrangement of materials, 
and variations in roof design and window design. As a result of the amendments, 
the level of symmetry in the design of the units has reduced, to better reflect the 
character of the village. 

12.12 Further to these amended plans, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in 
relation to policies S4 and DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1. 

Page 79



Residential amenity

12.13 Separation distances exceeding 30m would be achieved with existing 
development opposite the site. This is considered to be sufficient to ensure that 
the proposal would not result in unacceptable levels of overlooking, 
overshadowing or overbearing impact. 

12.14 The proposal would be separated from housing to the south by an existing small 
coppice of trees and therefore this relationship is considered to be acceptable. 

12.15 The proposal is not considered to result in any significant level of harm to 
residential amenity and is considered to be acceptable in this regard, in 
accordance with policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan. 

 
Ecology

12.16 Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan and advice contained within the NPPF 
requires that new development should in the first instance, avoid harm to 
biodiversity. Where this is not possible, any harm should be mitigated. As a last 
resort, any significant harm should be compensated for. 

12.17 The site forms part of a larger field used for grazing, with a traditional hedge and 
some small trees to the frontage. Blitterlees beck runs to the front of the site with 
the highway. The proposal has been amended to retain the majority of the 
hedgerow to the front, albeit some small trees are proposed for removal. These 
small trees are not considered to be worthy of protection. A further native 
hedgerow and additional planting is indicated on the amended layout plan and a 
condition is recommended, should planning permission be granted, for the 
submission of detailed landscaping scheme to secure this. Whilst the proposal 
will result in an increase in hardsurfacing across the site arising from the building 
footprint, parking and access road, this loss of grazing land cannot be avoided, 
but can be appropriately compensated for by the proposed hedgerow and 
landscaping that is likely to be more diverse than the grassed field. 

12.18 The application submission includes the same Ecological Appraisal submitted for 
the previously approved application, which considers the potential for the 
development to impact on Great Crested Newts. The survey report indicated that 
all waterbodies within 500m of the site were considered at the time and 
concluded that Great Crested Newts were not likely to be present following site 
inspection, habitat suitability scoring and environmental DNA analysis.  The 
report recommends further survey effort if the scheme is significantly delayed or 
site conditions change. 

12.19 Whilst the report dates from 2016, conditions at the site have not significantly 
altered and therefore it is considered unlikely that the proposal will have any 
significant impact on this protected species. Noting the extant planning 
permission, ultimately, it is the developer’s responsibility to ensure that the 
proposal, if approved, does not impact on protected species and an advisory 
note is recommended in this respect. 

12.20 In addition to the Great Crested Newt, Natterjack Toads, also a European 
protected species (EPS) have been recorded in the locality. However, the habitat 
suitable for this species are the coastal dunes to the west of the B5300. The 
ecologist has therefore previously confirmed that no survey effort was considered 
necessary at this site for this species. 

Page 80



12.21 The proposal is considered unlikely to result in any harm to protected species. It 
is considered that the proposal will not result in significant harm to biodiversity. 
The proposal avoids harm to the hedgerow to the site frontage and the proposed 
new native hedgerow to the rear boundary and additional planting within the 
scheme, will be sufficient to compensate for the loss of the site from grazing land 
to residential land, in accordance with policies S35 and DM17, and advice 
contained within the NPPF.

Drainage

12.22 Policy S29 of the Allerdale Local Plan seeks to ensure that new development is 
directed away from areas of higher flood risk and that it does not increase flood 
risk to others, through a sustainable approach to surface water drainage. 

12.23 A Drainage Strategy Report has been provided with the proposal, which indicates 
that ground conditions are not suitable for soakaways and therefore an 
attenuated discharge into the adjacent watercourse is proposed. Attenuation 
tanks are indicated under the shared driveway. 

12.24 The Environment Agency indicates that the beck running along the site frontage 
is classified as a main river. The site itself is allocated as Flood Zone 1 on the EA 
maps.  Maps showing surface water flooding potential indicate that the beck and 
a narrow strip of land immediately adjacent to the beck has a higher chance of 
flood risk, but the remainder of the site is at low risk. 

12.25 No concerns with the proposal have been raised by the Environment Agency or 
United Utilities, subject to conditions including a detailed drainage scheme to be 
submitted for approval, to include attenuated run-off rates, and management and 
maintenance of the drainage system.  

12.26 The County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has provided a 
response to the proposal, highlighting the representations from the public raising 
issues with localised flooding during heavy rainfall.  The LLFA considers that this 
point needs to be investigated to establish what risk this could pose for the new 
houses. If this can be substantiated, then the surface water drainage for the site 
should be reassessed further. If not, then it is recommend that the application 
should be approved subject to the conditions being included in any notice of 
consent that include: A full scheme for surface water drainage, a Traffic 
Management Plan, highway construction and lighting details with timing of 
provision. The drainage details will need to include consideration of overland flow 
from the adjacent fields, together with an identified exceedance route.

12.27 Concerns are noted from local residents regarding localised flooding from the 
beck and standing water in the field during periods of heavy rainfall and the LLFA 
response recognises this. However, the request for further assessment has been 
raised very late in the processing of the application. Given the late response and 
the extant permission that exists at this location for the same development, it is 
considered appropriate to secure further consideration of surface water drainage 
by condition.  Subject to conditions securing full surface water drainage details 
that consider localised issues, along with maintenance of this drainage system, 
the proposal is considered to be acceptable in relation of Policy S29 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan.

Page 81



Affordable Housing Provision

12.28 Policy S8 of the Allerdale Local Plan requires an affordable housing provision of 
25% on sites outside Key Service Centres for 5 dwellings (or 0.15ha) or more. 
However, subsequent to the adoption of the plan, national guidance has changed 
in relation to affordable housing, firstly through the publication of a Written 
Ministerial Statement in 2014 and subsequent case law in 2016 and advice 
contained within Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), and again following the 
revised NPPF in 2018 and 2019.

12.29 When the previous application for the site was considered, the WMS and PPG 
were material considerations that carried significant weight in the determination 
of the application. As the proposal was for only five dwellings with a combined 
floorspace of less than 1000sqm, the threshold for seeking an affordable housing 
provision under the WMS and PPG was not exceeded. As such, the extant 
planning permission for the site has no section 106 agreement attached securing 
affordable housing provision as part of the scheme. 

12.30 The current application falls to be considered against Policy S8, however 
subsequent guidance within the NPPF 2019 is a material consideration. The 
NPPF 2019 requires 10% affordable housing provision on major sites. For 
residential development, a major site is where 10 or more homes will be 
provided, or where the site area is 0.5ha or more (i.e. the former reference to 
1000sqm has been removed). This proposal is for five dwellings, but the site area 
does exceed 0.5ha. Whilst the latter would therefore require a 10% affordable 
housing provision, a further material consideration is the extant planning 
permission, which could still be built out, and does not have an affordable 
housing requirement. 

12.31 The current scheme does not significantly differ from that previous proposal and 
a full application has only been sought (as opposed to a reserved matters 
application) in order to vary the layout of the units and in response to an 
amended red line. As such, given that the proposal provides for five dwellings, 
which is below the 10 dwellings stipulated within the NPPF and noting the extant 
planning permission that does not include an affordable housing provision (and is 
a genuine fall-back position), it is not considered appropriate in this case to 
pursue an affordable housing contribution. 

Local Financial Considerations

12.32 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal has 
possible financial implications in terms of the New Homes Bonus and Council 
Tax Revenue. 

13.0 Conclusions

13.1 The site has extant planning permission for five dwellings. 

13.2 Blitterlees is a Limited Growth Village as defined in Policy S3 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan, (Part 1) and Limited Growth Villages are identified as suitable for 
small-scale development within existing settlement limits, in order to contribute 
approx. 6% of the overall housing supply for the Borough. The proposal is 

Page 82



considered to be small scale, well related to the village, and of an appropriate 
density. 

13.3 The proposal would bring benefits principally arising from the provision of 
additional housing to meet the needs of the Borough, as anticipated in the 
settlement hierarchy. Some associated economic benefits would arise for the 
construction industry. Limited adverse impacts have been identified above and 
these adverse impacts would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the policies of the Framework, taken as a whole.  

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 

Page 83



Annex 1

CONDITIONS

Time Limit:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

In Accordance:
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following plans:

Amended Dwg 19.1952.2B Proposed Site Plan, 1-8-19
Amended Dwg 19.1952B Existing and Proposed Street Scene, 13-9-19
Amended Drawing 19.1952.10 Plot 1 Elevations, 13-9-19
Amended Drawing 19.1952.11 Plot 2 Elevations, 13-9-19
Amended Drawing 19.1952.12 Plot 3 Elevations 13-9-19
Amended Drawing 19.1952.13 Plot 4 Elevations 13-9-19
Amended Drawing 19.1952.14 Plot 5 Elevations 13-9-19
19.1952.8 Proposed Ground Floor Plan
19.1952.3 Proposed Ground Floor Plan

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered.

Pre-commencement conditions:

3. Construction Management Plan:
No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The statement shall include the following:

a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, off site parking, turning 
and compound areas;

b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of 
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from 
vehicles, deliveries. All measurements should make reference to 
BS7445.

c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 

Page 84



properties from construction compounds including visual impact, 
noise, and light pollution.

d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition;

e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction 
and demolition (including any wheel washing facilities);

f) Programme of work for Construction phase;

g) Hours of working and deliveries;

h) Details of lighting to be used on site;

i) Highway signage/ Haulage routes. 

The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
development.

Reason:  In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the development hereby 
approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy 
S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of 
highway safety.

4. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development shall commence until 
the following information has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval:

a) Details of existing and proposed ground levels;
b) Proposed finished floor levels of buildings;
c) Levels of any paths, drives, garages and parking areas;

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details so 
approved.

Reason: To ensure that the works are carried out to a suitable level in relation to the 
adjoining properties and highways and in the interests of visual amenity.

5. The carriageway, footways, footpaths, ramps etc shall be designed, 
constructed, drained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority and in 
this respect further details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval before work 
commences on site. The highway design details shall be informed by Road 
Safety Audits Stages 1 & 2 and ramps shall be provided on each side of every 
road junction to enable wheelchairs, prams and invalid carriages to be safely 
manoeuvred at kerb lines. No work shall be commenced until a full 
specification has been approved and any works so approved shall be 
constructed before the development is complete.

Page 85



Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway 
safety.

6. The development shall not be brought into use until visibility splays providing 
clear visibility of 2.4 metres x 60 metres measured down the centre of the 
access road and the nearside channel line of the major road have been 
provided at the junction of the access road with the county highway. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, or object of any 
kind shall be erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants which 
exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be permitted to grow within the 
visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays.

Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014.

7. Prior to the commencement of any development, a surface water drainage 
scheme (which includes details of attenuation and the restricted run-off rate),  
which is based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning 
Practice Guidance, with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions 
(including assessment of overland flows from the adjacent fields, together 
with an identified exceedance route), shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be completed 
in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with policies S29, S32, S35 
and S36 of the Allerdale Local Plan 2014.

8. Prior to the commencement of the development a sustainable drainage 
management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development shall 
be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The sustainable 
drainage management and maintenance plan shall include as a minimum: 

       a. The arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a Resident's Management 
Company; and

       b. Arrangements concerning appropriate funding mechanisms for its ongoing 
maintenance of all elements of the sustainable drainage system (including 
mechanical components) and will include elements such as ongoing 
inspections relating to performance and asset condition assessments, 
operation costs, regular maintenance, remedial woks and irregular 
maintenance caused by less sustainable limited life assets or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the surface water drainage scheme 
throughout its lifetime. The development shall subsequently be completed, 
maintained and managed in accordance with the approved plan. 

Page 86



Reason: To manage flooding and pollution and to ensure that a managing body is in 
place for the sustainable drainage system and there is funding and maintenance 
mechanism for the lifetime of the development, in accordance with policies S21, 
S29, S32 and S36 of the Allerdale Local Plan 2014.

Post-commencement/Pre use commencing conditions:

9. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed above 
ground floor level until details of all external and roofing materials have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Only the 
materials so approved shall be used in the development as approved.
The mix of render and brick materials shall be completed in accordance with 
the details provided on amended drawing 19.1952B Existing and Proposed 
Street Scene, 13-9-19.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the external 
appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with the character of the 
surrounding area, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

10. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be built above ground floor 
level until there has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority a full scheme of hard and soft landscaping which shall include 
indications of all existing trees, hedges and shrubs on the site, and details of 
those to be retained, together with measures for the protection in the course 
of development. The submitted landscaping plan shall accord with Amended 
Dwg 19.1952.2B Proposed Site Plan, 1-8-19 insofar as it specifies trees and 
hedgerow to be retained and a new native hedge to the eastern boundary of 
the site. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the approved 
scheme shall be carried out in the first planting season following completion 
of the development and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years 
from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with other 
similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the 
impact of the development in the locality.

11. The means of enclosure for the time shall be erected in accordance with 
Amended Dwg 19.1952.2B Proposed Site Plan, received 1-8-19, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The means of 
enclosure shall be constructed prior to the approved dwellings being brought 
into use/occupied. All means of enclosure so constructed shall be retained 
and no part thereof shall be removed without the prior consent of the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is compatible with 
the character of the surrounding area and protect the privacy of occupiers.

Page 87



12. No dwellings or buildings or structures shall be commenced until the access 
roads, as approved, are defined by kerbs and sub base construction.
Reason: To ensure that the access roads are defined and laid out at an early stage. 
To support Local Transport Plan Policies:  LD5, LD7, LD8

13. No dwellings shall be occupied until the estate road including footways to 
serve such dwellings has been constructed in all respects to base course 
level and street lighting where it is to form part of the estate road has been 
provided and brought into full operational use.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

14 Details of all measures to be taken by the applicant/developer to prevent 
surface water discharging onto or off the highway shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval prior to the development being 
constructed above plinth level. Any approved works shall be implemented 
prior to the development being completed and shall be maintained operational 
at all times thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and environmental management.

Other: 

15. Foul drainage shall be disposed of to the adopted Public Sewerage sytem.

Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of pollution in accordance with policies S32 and S36 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan 2014.

Advisory Note 

Protected species – Great Crested Newt. 

Send applicant full response from County Council. 

Page 88



P
age 89



P
age 90



Allerdale Borough Council

Planning Application FUL/2019/0128

Development Panel Report

Reference Number: FUL/2019/0128
Valid Date: 05/07/2019
Location: Highfield Community Centre (Squash Club)

Highfield Road
Cockermouth

Applicant: Cockermouth Titans ARLFC
Proposal: Partial change of use from squash courts to changing 

facilities and new function rooms at first floor 
incorporating new balcony

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS

1.0 Summary

Issue Conclusion

Principle of Development The loss of this sporting facility is 
considered justified with the benefits of 
changing facilities and clubhouse to 
support the emerging rugby club. This is 
agreed with Sport England who concur on 
the benefits. A single squash court is 
retained.

Residential amenity The amended plans remove a balcony and 
keep windows fixed that serve the upper 
floor function room and bar. This is 
considered to overcome any adverse 
impacts with other safeguarding conditions 
on hours of operation. 

2.0 Introduction 

2.1 This application is being referred to the Panel as the owner of the building is 
Allerdale BC. 

Page 91

Agenda Item 8



3.0 Proposal

3.1 This is a planning application for change of use of squash courts to provide 
changing rooms and function room associated with local rugby club and with 
retention of one squash court.

4.0 Site

4.1 The site comprises a detached modern building adjacent to a playing field in a 
residential area. Other ancillary storage buildings are noted.

4.2 The site is accessed from a residential estate with informal parking area. The 
building is currently used as three squash courts for public use.

5.0 Relevant Planning History

5.1 None

6.0 Representations

Town Council  

6.1 No objection

ABC Environmental Health 

6.2 No objection subject to conditions

Cumbria County Highway Authority 

6.3 No objections.

Other representations 

6.4 The application has been advertised on site and adjoining landowners where 
known have been notified. Three letters of objection have been received 
regarding general impact upon amenity with specific reference to the balcony 
which has been removed from the scheme

7.0 Development Plan Policies

Allerdale Local Plan 1999

7.1 The site is within the Saved Settlement limits. It is outside of the Leisure Policy 
designation. 

Page 92



Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1)

7.2 The following policies are considered relevant:-

Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S25 - Sports,Leisure and Open Space
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 - Development Principles  

8.0 Other material considerations

Submission Draft Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 

8.1 The site is within the settlement limits and the building is explicitly excluded from 
the Green infrastructure designation. 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2018)

8.2 Paragraph 91 states:-

“Planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and 
safe places which: c) enable and support healthy lifestyles, especially where this 
would address identified local health and well-being needs – for example through 
the provision of safe and accessible green infrastructure, sports facilities, local 
shops, access to healthier food, allotments and layouts that encourage walking 
and cycling.”  

9.0 Policy weighting
9.1 Notwithstanding the duties under sections 66 and 72 of the Listed Building Act, 

section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if 
regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination 
to be made under the planning Acts, the determination must be made in 
accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This 
means that the Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 policies have primacy 
in decision making. 9.2 A material consideration is the provisions of the 
NPPF. The NPPF advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies 
can vary according to their degree of consistency with this framework (the closer 
the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight 
that may be given). In this instance, the Allerdale Local Plan (part 1) policies are 
postdated by the revised NPPF and are consistent with the NPPF and so full 
weight can be afforded to them. 

10.0 Assessment

Principle 

Page 93



10.1 The proposals will rearrange the internal layout of the building to provide a 
function room at upper floor with changing and clubhouse facilities at ground 
floor. A single squash court to roof height will remain.

10.2 The change of use is planned for the emerging local Rugby League club who 
require a permanent and sustainable base for the club to develop. Grant aid from 
Allerdale BC has been secured. The key material planning consideration is the 
loss of two squash courts. Policy S25 protects existing sports facilities on land or 
within buildings. The criteria to allow such loss is as follows.

h) An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open 
space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or

i) The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by 
equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable 
location; or

j) The development is for alternative sports and leisure provision, the needs 
for which clearly outweigh the loss.

10.3 Sport England has been consulted and in further consultation with England 
Rugby and Squash England the following response was received.

‘Having assessed the application, Sport England is satisfied that the proposed 
changing room development meets Exception 2 of our playing fields policy, in 
that:

'The proposed development is for ancillary facilities supporting the principal use 
of the site as a playing field, and does not affect the quantity or quality of playing 
pitches or otherwise adversely affect their use.'

The retention of 1 squash court and separate squash changing meets with 
England Squash ratios and Sport England has no objection to this element of the 
application.

10.4 As such part j) of Policy S25 is met and the loss of the courts is justified with the 
benefits of the sports changing facilities and clubhouse.

Residential amenity

10.5 The nearest dwellings are at a distance of 26m, 38m, and 42 m to the south 
Initial objections have not been repeated following amended plans.
There are external alterations required with window openings rearranged. These 
(as amended) will remain closed to preserve nearby residential amenity with 
internal mechanical means providing the necessary ventilation. For the same 
reasons a proposed upper floor balcony has been removed from the scheme. 
This is acceptable to Environmental Health with an internal ventilation system 
and also acceptable to Allerdale Building Regulations with means of escape 
achievable within their regulations.

Page 94



10.6 Appropriate conditions regarding hours of use, noise restriction and the timing of 
outside refuse disposal are considered necessary and reasonable. The 
improvements to the building are welcomed and the external alterations 
considered minor and with no adverse visual impact or loss of amenity in 
compliance with policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).

Local Financial Considerations

10.7 Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act. There is the 
potential for increased Business rates Revenue. This has carried no weight in the 
determination.

11.0 Conclusion

11.1 The proposals are acceptable as reported above and will bring the benefit of 
improved facilities to support and help establish an emerging rugby club and with 
wider community benefits of sport and recreation and social venue. Residential 
amenity is not considered to be significantly affected with safeguarding 
conditions.

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS

Page 95



Annex 1

CONDITIONS

Time 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

In accordance 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans:                                                                                     
DWG02 REV A Proposed Plans (amended plan 13/8/2019)
DWG03 REV A Proposed Elevations (amended plan 13/8/2019)
20120 - 1 Environmental Noise Survey

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered.

Post first use 

3. Entertainment and plant noise from the approved development shall not 
exceed the measured background level  LA90 15min  42dB,  as measured 1m 
from the nearest noise sensitive façade on Scafell Close CA13 9BP

Reason : In the interesrts of residential amenity in compliance with policy S32 of 
the Allerdale local plan (Part 1)

4. The opening/operation of the approved use shall only be between the hours 
of 8am and 11pm Monday to Saturday and 8am and 10.30pm on Sundays.

Reason : In the interests of residential amenity in compliance with policy S32 of the 
Allerdale local plan (Part 1)

5. The placing of bottles into receptacles outside the premises shall solely take 
place between the hours of 8am and 8pm  Monday to Saturday and 10am and 
8pm on Sundays.

Reason : In the interests of residential amenity in compliance with policy S32 of the 
Allerdale local plan (Part 1)

6. Deliveries to the premises shall solely take place between the hours of 8am  
and 8pm  Monday to Saturday and 10am and 8pm on Sundays.

Page 96



Reason : In the interests of residential amenity in compliance with policy S32 of the 
Allerdale local plan (Part 1)

.Advisory Note 

None

Page 97



P
age 98



P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 100


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Development Panel - FUL/2019/0187 - Energy Coast Laundry, Joseph Noble Road, Workington - Retrospective application for change of use from car sales to industrial laundry
	6 Development Panel - OUT/2019/0028 - Low Road, Cockermouth - Outline application for residential development of 27 dwellings
	7 Development Panel - FUL/2019/0160 - Verona, Blitterlees, Silloth - Construction of five detached bungalows
	8 Development Panel - FUL/2019/0128 - Highfield Community Centre (Squash Club), Highfield Road, Cockermouth - Partial change of use from squash courts to changing facilities and new function rooms

